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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 
 

Appellant Don Charlson will be referred to as “Don.” Appellee Angela Charlson 

will be referred to as “Angela.” Exhibits are referred to as Don’s trial exhibit followed by 

a letter and number (for e.g. “DTE A (1)”) or Angela’s trial exhibit followed by an 

exhibit number (for e.g. “ATE 1”).  The Appendix (“App.”) contains documents 

referenced in SDCL § 15-26A-60 (8), including but not limited to the Court’s Findings of 

Fact and Conclusions of Law (“FOF” or “COL”; App. 2) as well as the Pre-Marriage 

Agreement (“PMA” and “App. 3”) at issue on appeal. Docket items are referred to as 

“Docket” with a corresponding docket number (for e.g. Docket No. 173 is the PMA). 

References to the transcript, page, and line numbers will be referred to as “CT Pg., lines” 

Excerpts from transcript cited below are attached as App. 4.  Other citations to the record 

or legal precedent will be as governed by SDCL 15-26A generally.  

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 On June 27, 2016, the Honorable Michael Day entered a final judgment from 

which this appeal is being taken (App. 1). Appellee filed Notice of Entry of Judgment 

and Order on July 1, 2016 (App. 5). This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal due to 

the fact the Trial Court entered a final Judgment and Order and Notice of Appeal was 

timely filed by Don on July 28, 2016 (Docket No. 3385). 

CONCISE STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES 

 Angela initiated a declaratory judgment action in this case to have the Court 

interpret and enforce a Premarital Agreement (“PMA”) (Docket No. 2).  Don answered 

the declaratory action denying such PMA was enforceable and also disputing Angela’s 

interpretation and application of the PMA to marital assets obtained by the parties 
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through joint accounts during the lengthy marriage. The Court bifurcated enforceability 

and interpretation and conducted a trial on October 16, 2014, ruling that the PMA was 

enforceable (Docket No. 351).  A subsequent trial was conducted in which the Court 

ultimately ruled on interpretation and application of the PMA.  Don appeals the 

interpretation and application decision (App. 1).  Don further reasserts on appeal that if 

the PMA is interpreted as the Trial Court interpreted it there exists a lack of mutual 

consent rendering the PMA unenforceable as a matter of law.  Therefore, the legal issues 

before this Court, with the most relevant authority, would be as set forth below.  

1. The Trial Court erred in interpreting the PMA in a way that permits tracing of 
earnings or property through the joint marital bank account of the parties and in 
the application of marital loans that neither party testified existed.  

Most Relevant Authority 
 
Sanford v. Sanford, 2005 SD 34, 694 NW2d 283;  
Prunty Const., Inc. v. City of Canistota, 2004 SD 78, 682 NW2d 749; 
State v. Schouten, 2005 SD 122, 707 NW2d 820. 

  
2. Whether the Trial Court’s adoption of Angela’s expert report constituted 

reversible error based on the a lack of foundation. 
 

Most Relevant Authority 
 
Meligan v. Dept. of Revenue and Regulation, 2006 SD 26, 712 NW2d 12; 

 
Johnson v. Albertson’s, 2000 SD 47, 610 NW2d 449. 

 
3. If tracing is allowed into the joint marital bank account, and if the PMA is 
interpreted to create “marital loans,” mutual consent did not exist.  

 
Most Relevant Authority 

 
Geraets v. Halter, 1999 SD 11, 588 NW2d 231;  

 
Read v. McKennan Hosp., 2000 SD 66, 610 NW2d 782;  
 
SDCL 53–3–3. 

 
  



7 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

 The parties were married in Deadwood, South Dakota, on January 23, 1993 (FOF 

1; App. 2).  Angela retained Attorney Dick Pluimer to draft the PMA on January 21, 

1993 (FOF 5; App. 2). The parties met with Angela’s attorney and signed the PMA on 

January 22, 1993 and were married the next day (FOF 4; App. 2).  Plaintiff and 

Defendant are parties to a divorce action filed in Minnesota, In Re Marriage of Donald 

M. Charlson and Angela K. Charlson, Olmsted County Court File No. 55-FA-13-1830 

(FOF 1). The Minnesota Court bifurcated the case and granted the parties a divorce on 

February 18, 2014 but has yet to rule on a division of marital property (FOF 1; App. 2). 

Plaintiff initiated this Declaratory Judgment action to determine the enforceability and 

interpretation of the PMA (Docket No. 2). 

 The PMA provides for a parties right to maintain separate assets which existed as 

of the date or marriage (App. 3). As to separate property, the PMA provides in paragraph 

two that “Each party acknowledges and agrees that all property acquired or owned by the 

other as of the date of this Agreement shall be and remain the sole and separate property 

of that party” (App. 3).  The PMA further addressed in paragraph four that any property 

acquired from and after the date of marriage through the utilization of  joint marital bank 

accounts shall be considered marital property and “shall remain marital regardless of 

designation of title or ownership:”   

4. Marital Property. Except as specifically provided above, 
property acquired by the parties from and after the date of the 
marriage, and continuing through the course of the marriage, shall 
remain marital property.  No waiver, release or relinquishment of 
any right, title, claim or interest in and to the separate property of 
the other shall be construed as a relinquishment of any right or 
interest in marital property.  Property acquired from and after the 
date of the marriage, and continuing through the course of the 
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marriage, shall remain marital property regardless of designation 
of title or ownership of such assets. (App. 3) (emphasis added). 

 
As noted, The PMA addresses the relinquishment of rights in separate property. Id. 

 The PMA provided a mechanism for the acquisition of marital property “from and 

after” the date of marriage (App. 3). The PMA states in paragraph seven that the parties 

are to create a “joint marital bank account” in which each party is to deposit earnings or 

separate property to both fund ordinary marital expenses and acquire any marital property 

from and after the date of marriage:  

“The parties agree to create, upon marriage, a jointly owned bank 
account, and each agrees to deposit into such account, earnings or 
separate property, at an amount necessary to pay ordinary and 
necessary living expenses of the parties, and any acquisition of 
marital property.”  The payment of other ordinary living expenses, 
such as taxes, insurance, utilities and miscellaneous repairs shall be 
paid from the joint marital bank account (App. 3) (emphasis 
added).   

 
The joint marital bank account, therefore, had two identified purposes per the terms of the 

PMA. The first purpose is payment of ordinary and necessary living expenses from and 

after the date of marriage.  The second stated purpose is the acquisition of marital 

property during the marriage. No other purpose, or interest, is identified for the joint 

marital bank account. Given these exclusive stated purposes, the funds identified in the 

joint marital bank account obtained the irrevocable character of marital.  

 The PMA also protected separate earnings or property which the parties chose to 

not deposit into the joint martial bank account through a commingling clause found in 

paragraph five of the PMA (App. 3).  In sum, Don’s interpretation is that the joint marital 

bank account contains only marital funds and no party maintains any separate interest in 

that joint martial bank account or the marital property acquired by that account.  Don’s 
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interpretation also allows for the parties to keep separate earnings or property separate if 

not otherwise deposited into the joint marital bank account that, again, had only two 

stated purposes under the terms of the PMA.  

 The parties opened the joint marital bank account (“7183”) contemplated by 

paragraph seven of the PMA in April of 1993 (FOF 250; App. 3). The parties also later 

opened another joint marital bank account (“2730”) (FOF 451).  Angela continued to 

maintain separate accounts throughout the twenty plus year marriage (FOF 155; CT Pg. 

345; lines 1-2).  

 Although the record in this case is admittedly substantial in scope, the dispute 

over the interpretation of the PMA is not.  The PMA required both parties to deposit 

earnings or separate property into the joint marital bank accounts (“7183”and“2730”) to 

pay ordinary marital living expenses and for the acquisition of any marital property 

acquired “from and after” the date of marriage (FOF 21; App. 3).  Those were the only 

two purposes of that account under the terms of the PMA. Don’s interpretation yields the 

result that a party relinquishes any claim to separate earnings or property by depositing it 

into the joint marital account identified in paragraph seven of the PMA because funds in 

the joint marital account were only to be utilized for the two identified purposes; one 

being the acquisition of “marital” property acquired from and after the date of marriage 

(FOF 21; App. 3).  Further, Don’s interpretation is that a party could, and did, maintain 

separate earnings or property, even if comingled, if the party did not deposit the same 

into the joint marital bank account from and after the date of marriage (FOF 21).  Don 

does not dispute that if Angela made a decision to utilize separate accounts maintained 

during the marriage to acquire or manage separate property that it remained Angela’s 
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separate property under the PMA. 

 Angela interprets the PMA to protect her separate property or earnings in the joint 

marital account even when the joint marital account was utilized to acquire marital 

property from after the date of marriage.  Angela proposed and the Court adopted the 

following findings of fact:   

FOF 20. Any separate property interest in funds Plaintiff 
transferred into the joint 7183 account did not change the character 
of her separate property interest or otherwise result in a change of 
her separate property to marital…..(App. 2) 

 
FOF 86. Plaintiff’s position is if her separate funds are traced into 

an asset, despite her separate funds flowing through joint accounts 
prior to the purchase of that asset, the acquired asset remains 
Plaintiff’s separate property. Ex. 1K, P.3, Bate #27551 (App. 2) 
(emphasis added).  

 
As a result of this interpretation Angela retained experts to attempt to “trace” those 

separate earnings or property deposited into the joint marital bank account for the  

entire twenty plus years of the marriage (FOF 88). Despite the fact that the PMA 

identifies the joint marital bank account as a joint marital bank account Angela labels  

it (“7183”) as a “pass through account” (FOF 127) and that it contains “a combination of 

Plaintiff’s separate property and marital property” (COL 27).  In addition, Angela’s 

experts took it a step further and created alleged “marital loans” in such joint marital 

bank account when those alleged separate interests were paid towards a separate  

asset from and after the date of marriage (FOF 26).  This interpretation, in an 

approximate estate of six million dollars, awarded Angela approximately eighty seven 

percent of assets and Don approximately thirteen percent of assets (CT Pg. 776; lines 14- 

25; Pg. 777; lines 1-9). Angela testified that she did not understand  

either tracing or the marital loan created by her retained experts (FOF 154).  
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 Angela submitted a Finding which was adopted by the Trial Court that stated that 

the characterization of the separate earnings or property deposited into the joint marital 

accounts over a twenty year plus marriage really depended on what the parties “want to 

be marital” (FOF 23). In regards to tracing earnings or separate property  after  Angela 

decided to deposit the same into the joint marital bank accounts, and the issue of loans, 

Angela admitted that such was not her understanding of the PMA but rather she “had to 

agree” to “marital loans” that her experts created:  

…. But in my heart of hearts, and at absolutely – I can – like I’m 

testifying right now, I did not make a marital loan.  And they1did in 
their way of doing things.  I had to agree. I had to say “We have to 
let that be a marital loan.” But I know and Donny knows that I 
didn’t borrow any money from our joint account for my 7191 

account.  I kept that separate. 
 

Q: So when you transferred money from your 7183 [joint marital 
bank account] to 7191 and your expert treated it as a loan, it’s your 

testimony it was not meant to be a loan? 
 

A: It was not meant to be a loan. 
 
Ms. Lawrence: Your Honor, I would move to exclude the Value 
Tracing Report, as it clearly does not follow what Ms. Charlson 
believed they were doing during the marriage and what her 
testimony is today, what these transfers were meant to be. It’s the 

fictitious methodology report that doesn’t match their life or her 

intention or her interpretation of the pre-marriage agreement.  
 
The Court: Ms. Rohr? 
 
Ms. Rohr: Thank you, your Honor.  Ms. Charlson testified 
yesterday she is not a financial expert, and she didn’t know how 

financial tracing going back 25 years works. She is able to testify 
to what she intended.  This is what the tracing experts have come 
up with and she’s not qualified to answer that question.  Thank 

you. 
 

                                                 
1 If not immediately clear, “they” are Angela’s retained experts.  
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The Court: Thank you.  Your motion is denied. (CT Pg. 375, lines 
11-25; Pg. 376; 1-12) (emphasis added; bracketed material added).  

 
See also CT Pg. 442; lines 18-21, Pg. 449; lines 9-13; Pg. 461; lines 23-25; Pg. 
462; lines 24-25). 

 
 Based on the testimony above, Angela proposed Findings of Fact which were 

subsequently adopted that set out to avoid the implications of Angela’s testimony:   

FOF 152.  Both parties acknowledged they did not keep track of 
any marital loans  
 
FOF 153. Plaintiff was unaware she was creating any marital 
loans. 
 
FOF 154. Both Plaintiff’s and Defendant’s2 expert testified it is 
common for parties to not understand the movement of funds and 
how that impacts separate tracing. It is also common for parties to 
not understand how movements of funds impacts marital and 
separate property claims. Tr. 970; 1-9.  But that is not dispositive 
of whether or not loans were created. (emphasis added).  

 
FOF 155. It was Plaintiff’s practice to transfer her separate 

property to joint accounts when there was going to be a larger 
purchase of an asset.  Tr. 345, 460-462. During the marriage, there 
were occasions that an asset would be purchased and Plaintiff 
would either transfer her separate funds prior to or just after the 
purchase.  Although Plaintiff used her separate funds at times, if a 
marital loan existed in the account, the marital loan was paid back 
first, and VCG did not credit the Plaintiff with the use of her 
separate funds. Despite the fact Plaintiff was unaware of how the 
marital loan concept worked, the methodogy used by the 
Plaintiff’s experts is consistent with the contract terms of the PMA. 
(emphasis added). 

 
FOF 157.  Both parties deposited funds into various accounts to 
pay living expenses. Plaintiff also deposited her separate funds into 
joint accounts.  Plaintiff’s funds were, in part, funding ordinary 

living expenses in addition to purchasing assets that have martial 
value and separate value (emphasis added) (App. 2).  
 

                                                 
2 The cite Angela provided for the allegation that Defendant’s expert agreed was Tr. 970; 

1-9.  A review of that portion of the transcript does not support that conclusion. 
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 No explanation is provided for why Angela did not utilize a separate account to 

fund purchases if Angela had, at that time, wanted to preserve a separate interest in the 

marital property being acquired from and after the date of marriage.  Also no explanation 

has ever been provided for how to segregate Angela’s separate earnings or property 

deposited into the joint marital bank account between ordinary living expenses and the 

acquisition of any marital property as provided for in paragraph seven of the PMA.  

 In sum, Don’s interpretation is that if a party chose to deposit separate earnings or 

property (as each was required to do by the PMA) into the joint marital bank account that 

any alleged separate interest in such earnings or funds terminated.  This is, again, because 

the joint marital bank account only had two purposes; payment of ordinary expenses from 

and after the date of marriage, and the acquisition of marital property.3 Further, Don 

agrees with Angela that the parties never agreed to any alleged marital loans, that no 

marital loans were made throughout the marriage, and that there was never any written 

consent to any alleged marital loan (FOF 152, 153, 154, 155,157; App. 2).  Don 

respectfully request that this Court conduct its de novo review of the PMA and interpret it 

consistent with the interpretation advanced by Don.  

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 
 

1. The Trial Court erred in interpreting the PMA in a way that permits tracing of earnings 
or property through the joint marital bank account of the parties and in the application of 
marital loans that neither party testified existed.  
 

                                                 
3 Don’s expert Tom Harjes analyzed the financial history of the parties joint bank account 
and opined based on such financial analysis that Angela earned a total of $1,613,231.00 
during the marriage and contributed 37.3 % of her available funds to the parties monthly 
living expenses and acquisition of marital property while Defendant earned 
$2,964,667.00 during the marriage and contributed 70.9 % of his available funds for the 
same. DTE V; Schedule 1, (CT Pg. 1367; lines 11-25; Pgs. 1392 lines 1-25; Pg.1393 lines 
1- 25).  
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A. Interpretation and construction of the PMA is done under a de novo review. 
 

Under South Dakota law, a PMA is a contract which is subject to the rules of 

contract interpretation. Sanford v. Sanford, 2005 SD 34, 694 NW2d 283.  Interpretation 

of a contract is a question of law reviewed de novo. Prunty Const., Inc. v. City of 

Canistota, 2004 SD 78, ¶ 10, 682 NW2d 749, 753 (citing Fenske Media Corp. v. Banta 

Corp., 2004 SD 23, ¶ 8, 676 NW2d 390, 393). This Court gives no deference to a circuit 

court's conclusions of law and applies the de novo standard. State v. Schouten, 2005 SD 

122, ¶ 9, 707 NW2d 820, 822-23 (citing City of Deadwood v. Summit, Inc., 2000 SD 29, 

¶ 9, 607 NW2d 22, 25).    

B. No separate interest exists in joint marital bank account.  

 As set forth above, the Trial Court adopted Angela’s FOF 155 which interpreted 

the language of the PMA to allow for the tracing of separate earnings or deposits in 

which a party made the decision to deposit into the joint marital bank account from and 

after the date of marriage. This interpretation was adopted despite the fact that Angela 

had separate accounts available to her throughout the marriage and chose to deposit such 

funds into the joint marital bank account (FOF 155; CT Pg. 345; lines 1-2). Don’s 

interpretation yields the result that either party’s decision to deposit separate earnings or 

property into the joint marital bank account terminated any separate interest. Angela’s 

decision to deposit separate earnings or funds into the joint marital bank account 

relinquished any separate property claim because, by the terms of the PMA, the stated 

purpose of that account was only to fund ordinary living expenses of the parties and the 

acquisition of martial property. This is why the PMA identifies the account as a “joint 

marital bank account” (App. 3). 
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Upon deposit into the joint marital bank account, the PMA states only two 

purposes for the joint marital bank account and does not make any reference to tracing or 

loans.  Based on the fact there were only two purposes of the joint marital bank account, 

one being the acquisition of any marital property, the lack of any such language about 

tracing or loans is not unexpected. That type of tracing language would have been 

expected if earnings or property deposited into the joint marital bank account were to be 

considered something other than marital (App. 3).  Upon deposit, the PMA does not treat 

these as “comingled” funds because they are, by definition, marital funds which could not 

have been utilized for any purpose other than marital based upon the language of the 

PMA (App. 3).  Again, the parties were required by the PMA to deposit separate earnings 

or property into the joint marital bank account for ordinary marital expenses and to 

acquire any marital property acquired from and after the date of marriage (App. 3).  The 

PMA does not contemplate reliance on the alleged intent of either party as to such funds 

from and after a twenty year plus marriage; rather, it defines the account as a joint marital 

bank account and identifies the marital purpose for which it was created (App. 3).  

Angela acknowledged in FOF 155 it was “Plaintiff’s practice to transfer her 

separate property to joint accounts where there was going to be a larger purchase of an 

asset” CT Pg. 345 lines 1-25; Pgs. 460-462. Despite such transfers to the joint martial 

bank account prior to the acquisition of marital property from and after the date of 

marriage, Angela still wants the PMA interpreted to preserve a separate interest or “part” 

in the joint marital bank account:  

FOF 157.  Both parties deposited funds into various accounts to 
pay living expenses. Plaintiff also deposited her separate funds into 
joint accounts.  Plaintiff’s funds were, in part, funding ordinary 

living expenses in addition to purchasing assets that have marital 
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value and separate value. (emphasis added) (App. 2). 
 
The words “that have marital value and separate value” do not exist in the PMA (App. 3).  

Paragraph seven only states that it is a joint marital bank account to be utilized to acquire 

marital property.  This Court has routinely held that “[c]ontracting parties are held to the 

terms of their agreement, and disputes cannot be resolved by adding words the parties left 

out.” Gettysburg School Dist. 53-1 v. Larson, 2001 SD 91, ¶ 11, 631 NW2d 196, 200-01 

(citation omitted).  This Court should not add the words that Angela’s attorney did not 

include when he drafted and finalized the PMA the day before the parties were married. 

Angela’s interpretation of the PMA would also have this Court interpret the use of 

“any” in “any acquisition of marital property” in paragraph seven as a term of restriction 

rather than inclusion.  In fact, Angela’s proposed COL 23 which was adopted by the Trial 

Court wants the Court to find that it really all just depends on what the parties “want” 

(COL 23).  That COL provides in pertinent part:  

23. Paragraph 7 of the PMA does not say “all” property purchased 

with from the joint account is martial property. Rather it provides 
that the account may be used to acquire property the parties want to 
be marital. …. (App 2). 

 
This is inconsistent with the plain language of the PMA. The intent of the parties as to the 

purpose of the joint marital bank account is clearly stated in the PMA.  Paragraph seven 

does not use “may” nor does it reference what the parties “want” (App. 3).  Don further 

submits that Angela’s attorney could have drafted a PMA that utilized terms such as 

those now proposed by Angela but did not.  This Court has held “it is not the function of 

this Court to rewrite a contract.” South Dakota Cement Plant Com’n v. Wasau 

Underwriters Ins. Co. 2000 SD 116, ¶ 24, 616 NW2d 397, 404.  This Court should not 

now rewrite the PMA to include terms such as “may” or “want.”  The purpose of the joint 
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marital account was to acquire marital property. 

As stated above, Angela’s interpretation of the PMA adopted by the Trial Court 

requires the parties to litigate what each party “want[s] to be martial” (COL 23).  As 

 this Court understands, the problem with attempting to determine what a divorce litigant 

“wants” in regards to classifying transfers and property up to twenty years old is that  

the litigant may not remember such things and, if an assumption is to be made, such 

interpretation invites post hoc revisionist history.  Angela testified generally:  

Q: When you transferred money from 7183 to 7191 what was your 
intention for that money? 
 
A: I don’t know what date.  I can’t remember these things.  This is 

– that’s why I got experts to do all this. This is 20 years of different 

accounts and into different accounts. It’s very confusing to me and 
– I’m sorry. I just have to rely on my experts…. (CT Pg. 449; lines 

19-25).   
 

In addition to this general testimony, Angela also testified as to numerous instances 

where she had no idea what her intent, or her “want” had been over a twenty plus year 

marriage with thousands of transactions being reviewed:  

Q: So you transferred $9,500 from your joint account to the home 
federal account, $7,500 from 7191 to your Simple IRA; correct? 

 
A: Yes. 

 
Q: And your claiming that entire transfer is your separate property? 

  
A: That’s the experts – I – this is – that’s for the people, yes. 

 
Q: What was your intent at the time? 

 
A: I have no idea. (CT Pg. 445; lines 13-22).  

 
. . . .  

 
Q: Yet your claiming those are all your separate property? 
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A: That’s what the experts say. 
 
Q: So, throughout this, were you transferring money from your 
7191 account to your IRA’s while, at the same time, borrowing 

money from the marital estate? Are you maintaining a separate 
interest in the money? 
 
A: I had no idea at the time (CT Pg. 452; lines 21-25, Pg. 453; 
lines 1-3).  

. . . . 
 
Q: So when there’s that much marital funds in the joint account, 

how is it that you’re claiming transfers to 7191 are your separate 

property? 
 

A: That is a question for the experts.  I have no clue.  
 
Q: And as the same time of that transfer, look back at Page 65, you 
had borrowed $73,537 from the joint account; correct? 

 
A: What line is that? 

 
Q: Line 861. 
 
A: I don’t – this is something the experts have to tell you what 
happened.  I am not capable of doing this.  This is – you’re going 

to have to see how they did it with their formulas and that kind of 
stuff.  They tried to explain it to me and I …. (CT Pg. 448; lines 

16-25, Pg. 449; line 1-4). 
 
The plain language of the PMA did not require such speculation, guesswork, or 

conjecture about the joint marital bank account.  It does not depend on a litigant’s post-

divorce “intent” or “want[s].”  Once a party made a decision to deposit separate earnings 

or property into the joint marital bank account the decision, or “intent” was clear.  That 

joint marital bank account was to be used for two purposes – again, one of those stated 

purposes was the acquisition of any marital property acquired from and after the date of 

marriage.  Further, paragraph four also provides “property acquired from and after the 

date of the marriage, and continuing through the course of the marriage, shall remain 
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marital property regardless of designation of title or ownership of such assets” (App. 3). 

  Angela had separate accounts throughout the marriage (FOF 155). When Angela 

made the decision to put separate earnings or deposits into the joint marital bank account 

from and after the date of the marriage any separate interest in those separate funds 

terminated because the joint marital bank account could only be used for the marital 

purposes identified by paragraph seven of the PMA (App. 3). Angela cannot now be 

permitted to revisit her decision, or, as set forth below, have her experts create a fiction of 

a marital loan to further bolster her allegations of separate interests.  

C. No marital loans existed.  

As noted above, Angela’s experts created “marital loans” from Angela’s alleged 

“separate interests” in the joint marital bank account referenced in the PMA when such 

alleged separate interests were subsequently transferred back into other accounts.  Angela 

testified, however, no such marital loans ever existed during the marriage:   

…. But in my heart of hearts, and at absolutely – I can – like I’m 

testifying right now, I did not make a marital loan.  And they did in 
their way of doing things.  I had to agree. I had to say “We have to 
let that be a marital loan.” But I know and Donny knows that I 
didn’t borrow any money from our joint account for my 7191 

account.  I kept that separate. 
 
Q: So when you transferred money from your 7183 to 7191, and 
your expert treated it as a loan, it’s your testimony it was not meant 

to be a loan? 
 
A: It was not meant to be a loan (CT Pg. 375; lines 11-21). 

 
This testimony resulted in Angela’s need to acknowledge the following in her proposed 

Findings which the Court adopted in full:  

FOF 152. Both parties acknowledged they did not keep track of 
any marital loans (App. 2). 
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FOF 153. Plaintiff was unaware she was creating any marital loans 
(App. 2). 

 
To adopt an interpretation creating fictitious marital loans, when no written consent or 

mutual understanding of the same ever existed, defies logic. A retained litigation expert 

cannot and should not dictate to a client what that party to a contract wanted, or allegedly 

intended. This is especially so when that litigation expert, as here, must then rely upon 

such alleged “intent” of that same party.  This Court has repeatedly noted that a party, nor 

its expert can claim a version of facts more favorable to their position that that which they 

testified to under oath:  

Plaintiff cannot claim a version of the facts more favorable to his 
position than he gave in his own testimony. Swee, supra; Meyers, 
supra. It follows that a party who has testified to the facts cannot 
now claim a material issue of fact which assumes a conclusion 
contrary to his own testimony. See Also Lien v. Lien 2004 SD 8,  P. 
31, 674 NW2d 816, 827 (stating that a party “cannot now claim a 

better version of the facts than he testified to himself” and as a 

result “the trial court did not err in dismissing the claim”); Loewen 
v. Hyman Freightways, Inc., 557 NW2d 764 (SD 1997) (stating 
that a party “cannot now assert a better version of the facts than his 

prior testimony and ‘cannot now claim a material issue of fact 

which assumes a conclusion contrary to [his] own testimony.”).   
 
Lalley v. Safeway Steel Scaffolds, Inc., 364 NW2d 139, 141 (SD 1985). Angela’s experts 

are bound to this settled precedent.  Angela’s proposed a FOF adopted by the Trial Court 

that states her experts concluded it is also common for “parties to not understand how 

movement of funds impacts marital and separate funds” (FOF 154).  This is the 

proverbial attempt at an end run around this settled precedent.  Angela testified in her 

“heart of hearts” there were “absolutely” no loans and “it was not meant to be a loan” 

(CT. Pg. 375; lines 11-21).  This is not a misunderstanding of any sort – it is the sworn 

testimony of Angela as to a fact.  This Court should not only reject the attempt to trace 
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separate earnings or property into the joint martial bank account of the parties utilized to 

acquire any marital property from and after the date of marriage, but it should also reject 

the attempt of Angela’s experts to create the fiction of a marital loan when the parties 

testified that no such loans existed during the marriage of these two parties.  

 The PMA dictates in 8 (c) that neither party shall bind, or attempt to bind, the 

other to any indebtedness except on “written consent” (App. 3).  The “marital loans” 

created by Angela’s experts were never in writing because Angela testified “it was not 

meant to be a loan” (CT Pg. 375; line 21). Plaintiff testified she did not obtain 

Defendant’s written permission before borrowing money from the marital estate to pay 

expenses for an asset she now claims is her separate property (CT. Pg. 441; lines 20-22; 

CT Pg. 804; lines 15-20). Again, for any and all of the reasons above Angela’s 

interpretation of the PMA, identified through report of her retained experts, should be 

rejected as it ignores the language of the PMA as to the purpose of the joint bank account 

and ignores the parties testimony as to the allegation of loans.  

2. The Trial Court erred in adopting Angela’s expert report which lacked foundation and 

which was inconsistent with the terms of the PMA. 
  
 This Court has routinely held that value of expert opinions is no better than the 

facts upon which it is based.  Meligan v. Dept. of Revenue and Regulation, 2006 SD 26, 

712 NW2d 12, 18.  In Meligan the Court noted:  

We have consistently noted that “[t]he value of the opinion of an 

expert witness is no better than the facts upon which it is based. It 
cannot rise above its foundation and proves nothing if its factual 
basis is not true.” Haynes, 2004 SD 99, ¶ 29, 686 NW2d at 664 
(quoting Wiedmann v. Merillat Indus., 2001 SD 23, ¶ 17, 623 
N.W.2d 43, 47-48).  

 
In this case, the report and opinions of Angela’s experts are based on their own 
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interpretation of the PMA (See, for e.g. CT Pgs. 1202-1204). Settled law dictates that this 

Court gives no deference to the Trial Court’s interpretation of the PMA, and this Court 

should certainly not give deference to a retained litigation expert’s interpretation.  If this 

Court’s interpretation of the PMA is that the deposit of separate earnings or property into 

the joint marital bank account to pay ordinary marital expenses and to acquire any marital 

property after the date of marriage terminates any separate interest of either party the 

entire report of Angela’s expert is fatally flawed and must be rejected. 

 Angela’s experts also base the report largely on the “intent” of their client.  As set 

forth above, the provisions of the PMA, as to the joint marital bank account acquisitions 

of marital property, does not require or permit an examination of the parties subjective 

intent after the decision was made to deposit funds. Even if a party’s “want” or “intent” 

up to twenty years after the fact mattered, however, Angela is not a competent source for 

foundation on any such conclusion because the record is replete with her own admissions 

as to transactions that she “can’t remember” (CT Pg. 449; line 21); “I have no idea” (CT 

Pg. 445; line 22), and that “I have no clue” (CT pg. 448; line 19).  Angela’s experts 

cannot rise above the flawed foundation upon which they rest their opinions as to alleged 

intent.  

 Angela’s experts also create the fiction of a marital loan, obtained without written 

consent, that even their client testified under oath never existed nor was it the intent of 

the parties for their ever to be martial loans (CT Pg. 375; lines 11-25; Pg. 376; lines 1-

12).  Again, Angela’s experts rely on their interpretation of the PMA to create a marital 

loans even though it had to be first admitted neither party kept track of any alleged loans 

(FOF 152) and Angela herself was unaware she was creating loans (FOF 153).  Angela’s 
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Findings conclude by stating that “Despite the fact Plaintiff was unaware of how the 

marital loan concept worked, the methodology used by the Plaintiff’s experts is 

consistent with the contract terms of the PMA” (FOF 155). Neither is correct.  Neither 

party knew how any such loans worked because no such loans were ever contemplated, 

considered, discussed, nor did either party receive written consent for the same as 

required by paragraph eight (c) of the PMA (App. 3). 

 This Court addressed the appropriate role of an expert in South Dakota in Johnson 

v. Albertson’s, 2000 SD 47, ¶ 25, 610 NW2d 449, 455 where it stated in pertinent part 

that:  

The purpose of expert testimony is to assist the trier of fact and not 
supplant it.  Experts do not determine credibility. This state is not a 
trial by expert jurisdiction (citations omitted). The value of the 
opinion of the expert witness is no better than the facts upon which 
is it based.  It cannot rise above its foundation and proves nothing 
if its factual basis is not true.” 

 
Angela’s expert report should be rejected as it has no basis in fact or the terms of the 

PMA and therefore proves nothing.  This Motion was made, and denied, by the Trial 

Court at the appropriate time in the trial and after Angela testified contrary to her expert’s 

report (CT. Pg. 375; lines 11-25; Pg. 376; lines 1-12).  Angela’s sworn testimony 

demonstrates that the “factual basis [for her expert’s report and testimony] is not true” 

and it should have been excluded as lacking in proper foundation.  

3. If tracing is allowed into the joint marital bank account, and if the PMA is interpreted 
to create “marital loans,” mutual consent did not exist.  
 

An agreement is the result of a mutual assent of two parties to certain terms, and, 

if it be clear that there is no consensus, what may have been written or said becomes 

immaterial.” Geraets v. Halter, 1999 SD 11, ¶ 16, 588 NW2d 231, 234 (quoting Watters 
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v. Lincoln, 29 SD 98, 100, 135 NW 712, 713 (1912) (citation omitted)). “There must be 

mutual assent or a meeting of the minds on all essential elements or terms in order to 

form a binding contract.” Read v. McKennan Hosp., 2000 SD 66, ¶ 23, 610 NW2d 782, 

786 (citations omitted). Whether there is mutual assent is a fact question determined by 

the words and actions of the parties. Id. ¶ 25 (citation omitted). 

Consent is an essential element of a contract. SDCL 53–1–2(2). “Consent must be 

free, mutual and communicated.” Richter v. Industrial Finance Co. Inc., 88 SD 466, 472, 

221 NW2d 31, 35 (1974) (citing SDCL 53–3–1). “Consent is not mutual unless the 

parties all agree upon the same thing in the same sense.” SDCL 53–3–3. The existence of 

mutual consent is determined by considering the parties' words and actions. In re Estate 

of Neiswender, 2003 SD 50, ¶ 20, 660 NW2d 249, 253 (citing Coffee Cup Fuel Stops v. 

Donnelly, 1999 SD 46, 592 NW2d 924). “An enforceable contract requires [mutual 

assent].” SDCL 53–1–2(2); Braunger v. Snow, 405 NW2d 643, 646 (SD 1987). “There 

must be mutual assent or a meeting of the minds on all essential elements or terms in 

order to form a binding contract.” 17A Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 26 at 54 (1991); See Miller 

v. Tjexhus, 20 SD 12, 16, 104 N.W. 519, 520 (1905). A unilateral intent is not enough to 

make a contract binding. Langer v. Stegerwald Lumber Co., 262 Wis. 383, 55 NW2d 

389, 392 (1952).  

This Court has already reviewed ample testimony from Angela that she did not 

understand the tracing analysis nor ever contemplate such would need to be done on the 

joint marital bank account of the parties.  To summarize, though, Angela testified: 

Q: Yet your claiming those are all your separate property? 
 
A: That’s what the experts say. 
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Q: So throughout this, you were transferring money from your 
7191 to your IRAs while, at the same time, borrowing money from 
the marital estate?  Are you maintaining a separate interest in the 
money? 
 
A: I had no idea at the time.  

 
Q: You had not idea at the time what? 

 
A: That I would have to do a tracing. 

 
Q: What do you mean by that? 
 
A: I had no idea I would have to do a tracing and what was going 
on, that it would be like this.  That this would be – this was – this 
is what’s happened (CT Pg. 452; Line 21-25; Pg. 453; lines 1- 9). 

 
Don also did not agree with the Angela’s expert report, or the allegation that once 

separate earnings or property were deposited into the joint martial bank account that they 

allegedly retained a separate interest:  

Q: So when Ms. Charlson claims that she has a separate property 
interests in all of these assets, it is her position that she maintains – 
every time she deposited money to your joint account, she 
maintained a separate property interest in it.  Do you understand 
that? 

 
A: Yes I do.  I understand what she said. 
 
Q: Do you agree with that? 
 
A: No.  I don’t agree with that.  There was never a discussion 

relating to the fact that she was doing this. She would have had the 
ability to keep her assets separate, had she wanted to. She could 
have easily written checks from other places if she was trying to 
keep assets separate.  It was never understood by me that was what 
her intent was.  She could have wired money.  She could have 
transferred monies.  If she didn’t – she could have written checks 
on her 7191 account (CT Pg. 755; lines 11-25; Pg. 756 lines 1- 3) 
(emphasis added). 
 
 . . . . 
 
Q: There’s been a lot of testimony about the different businesses 
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that you two own.  Were those businesses acquired with funds 
from your joint account? 
 
A: All of them. 
 
Q: So the Buffalo Wild Wings, Sioux Falls Massage Envy, Rogers 
Massage Envy, Taco Johns of Pine Ridge, Edward Jones 
Partnership, those were all acquired with assets from your joint 
account? 
 
A: All of them were (CT Pg. 762; lines 17-25).  
. . . . 
A: I interpret it that, again, if we’re just speaking about the joint 
account that – she had income, I had income.  You could classify it 
as hers was distributions, mine was Edward Jones income.  You 
could classify that mine was a much greater number than hers, but 
I still call it joint income.  That’s the way I interpret it.  
 
Q: Do you know your total earnings over the course of the 
marriage, approximately? 
 
A: Yes.  The Baker Tilly Group said it was 2.6 million. 
 
Q: Do you know, approximately, how much Ms. Charlson earned 
during the course of the marriage?  
 
A: $1.6 million. 
 
Q: Do you know the approximate size of the estate? 
 
A: Five and a half to six million. 
 
Q: And under Ms. Charlson’s interpretation of the pre marriage 

agreement, approximately what percentage do you get compared to 
what she would get? 
  
A: I think the Value Consulting Group said I’m at about 13 percent 

and she’s at about 87 percent (CT Pg. 776; lines 14-25; Pg. 777; 
lines 1-9).  

 
If the Court’s interpretation of the PMA is that a tracing is appropriate, and that a 

separate interest was maintained in the joint marital bank account, neither party 

understood that.  “There must be mutual assent or a meeting of the minds on all essential 
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elements or terms in order to form a binding contract.” Read v. McKennan Hosp., 2000 

SD 66, ¶ 23, 610 NW2d 782, 786 (citations omitted). Whether there is mutual assent is a 

fact question determined by the words and actions of the parties. Id. ¶ 25 (citation 

omitted).  The testimony and actions of the parties in this case contradict Angela’s 

interpretation on the two key points and dictates that if such interpretation is upheld there 

was no mutual consent to it at the time the PMA was signed.  Angela cannot now claim a 

version of facts contrary to her own sworn testimony. Lalley, 364 NW2d at 141.  

 In addition to neither parties’ testimony, or actions, supporting an interpretation 

allow for tracing through the jointly owned joint marital bank account, the parties also 

both testified there were no marital loans. Angela, in fact, testified there were 

“absolutely” no loans nor were transfers meant to be loans at any point during the 

marriage (CT Pg. 375; 11-21).  Don’s testimony was no different than Angela’s 

testimony: 

A: When I look back, if that was what her actual intention was, I 
guess I’d say I’d be upset about it. I never had any idea at all she 
was borrowing money from our account, which she doesn’t either, 

she stated yesterday. I had no idea records were back and forth 
record and records were being taken of her owing marital assets to 
our joint account. The Value Consulting Group has to have 50 
assumptions, maybe even 100.  I didn’t count them, but there was 

many statements that say they assume this or they assume that.  
We’re dealing with millions of dollars and the assumptions didn’t 

make sense to me (CT Pg. 766; lines 15-25; Pg. 767; line 1). 
. . . . 

Q: And you heard Ms. Charlson’s testimony yesterday that that 

wasn’t what – there was no marital loan? 
 
A: As she stated, she nor I ever used the word “loan.”  We never 

discussed the word “loan.” I had no idea that she as borrowing 

money from this account, again, the one that I put most the money 
in, that she was borrowing money from it. 
 
Q: So she never asked your permission to borrow money from 
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7183? 
 
A: The word “loan” was never used (CT Pg. 771; lines 23-25; Pg. 
772; lines 1-7). 

 
Again, the Trial Court’s interpretation allowing for “marital loans” in the parties joint 

marital bank account has no basis in the PMA.  There are no separate interests in a joint 

marital bank account.  If the Trial Court’s interpretation is affirmed, neither party 

consented to that interpretation and accordingly no mutual consent existed.  Don submits 

that under the Trial Court’s interpretation there was a lack of mutual consent resulting in 

the conclusion that the PMA is not an enforceable contract.  

CONCLUSION 

 This Court should conduct its de novo review and reverse the Trial Court’s 

interpretation of the PMA.  Tracing through a joint marital bank account with only two 

stated marital purposes was not provided for by the terms of the PMA and neither party 

testified they either understood or conducted themselves in such a fashion throughout the 

marriage.  Interpreting the PMA to create marital loans, which was the fiction of 

Angela’s experts and in direct contradiction to Angela’s testimony, is also a flawed 

interpretation.  Last, and if the Trial Court’s Interpretation were to be affirmed neither 

party consented, through actions or through understanding, to an application of the PMA 

as set forth by the flawed report of Angela’s experts. This Court should reverse the Trial 

Court, remand this case to address the assets consistent with an interpretation of the PMA 

consistent with its terms and the parties mutual understanding. Such an interpretation will 

allow Angela to preserve any separate interests that she decided she wanted to protect 

during a twenty plus year marriage, identify marital assets acquired through the 

utilization of the joint marital bank account, and subsequently allow the Minnesota 
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divorce Court to divide all marital property in that proceeding.   

Appellant respectfully requests oral argument.  
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 

 In this brief, the Appellant, Donald Charlson, will be 

referred to as “Don.” The Appellee, Angela Charlson, will be 

referred to as “Angela.” The Register of Actions will be referred 

to as “RA” followed by the beginning page number of the document. 

References to the Trial Transcript will be referred to as “TR,” 

followed by the page number, a colon and the line numbers as 

applicable. Trial Exhibits will be referred to as “EX” followed 

by the number or letter and the bate stamp number (for e.g. EX 

1E, Bates #1850-1852). For reference, Plaintiff's exhibits at 

trial were numbers and Defendant's exhibits at trial were 

letters. The trial court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law dated April 8, 2016, will be referred to as “FOF” and “COL” 

followed by their applicable number, the date, and Register of 

Action (RA) followed by the beginning page number of the 

document. The trial court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law dated August 5, 2015, will be referred to as “FOF” and “COL” 

followed by their applicable number, the date, and Register of 

Action (RA) followed by the beginning page number of the 

document. Appendices will be referred to as “APP.” The Pre-

Marriage Agreement will be referred to as “PMA.” 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 This is an appeal from a Judgment and Order signed and 

filed June 27, 2016. RA 3382. It determined the parties’ debts 
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and separate property, marital property, or a combination of both 

separate and marital property, pursuant to the trial court’s 

interpretation of the PMA, as well as, to the extent necessary, 

the value of said assets. A Notice of Entry was served on July 1, 

2016. This appeal was filed on July 28, 2016. RA 3385. This 

appeal was brought pursuant to SDCL 15-26A-3(1) seeking review of 

the trial court’s Judgment and Order. 

 STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES 

 ISSUE 1 

 

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT’S ADOPTION OF ANGELA’S EXPERT 
REPORT CONSTITUTED REVERSIBLE ERROR. 

 

 The trial court held that Angela’s expert was well 

qualified and used appropriate methodology, as verified by Don’s 

expert. 

 

State v. Johnson, 2015 S.D. 7, 860 N.W.2d 235 

State v Bingham, 1999 S.D. 78, 600 N.W.2d 521 

State v. Fisher, 2011 S.D. 74, 805 N.W.2d 571 

SDCL 19-19-702 
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 ISSUE 2 

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INTERPRETING THE PMA 
TO PERMIT TRACING OF EARNINGS OR PROPERTY THROUGH THE 
JOINT MARITAL BANK ACCOUNT. 

 

 The trial court held that tracing was appropriate under the 
terms of the PMA, and that the PMA authorized the creation of 
marital loans. 

 

Jameson v. Jameson, 1999 S.D. 129, 600 N.W.2d 577 

Roth v. Roth, 1997 S.D. 75, 565 N.W.2d 782 

Gail M. Benson Living Tr. v. Physicians Office Bldg.,  

 Inc., 2011 S.D. 30, 800 N.W.2d 340 

  

 

 ISSUE 3 

 

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S ADOPTION OF THE MARITAL LOAN 
CONCEPT WAS ERROR.  

 

 The trial court found that the PMA established the concept 
of marital loans and adopted Angela's expert tracing 
methodology as it pertained to the marital loans. 

 

Smetana v. Smetana, 2007 S.D. 5, 726 N.W.2d 887 

  

 

 ISSUE 4 
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WHETHER THE MARTIAL LOANS AUTHORIZED BY THE  
PREMARITAL AGREEMENT REQUIRED CONSENT. 

 

 The trial court held that Don had voluntarily consented to 
the terms of the PMA, which included the concept of a marital 
loan without requiring consent. 

 

Pesicka v. Pesicka, 2000 S.D. 137, 618 N.W.2d 275 

 

 

 

 

 STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

CASE HISTORY 

 Don filed for a dissolution of his marriage to Angela in 

the State of Minnesota, which was served upon Angela on June 11, 

2012. In Re Marriage of Donald M. Charlson v. Angela K. Charlson, 

Court File No. 55-FA-13-1830, Third Judicial District, State of 

Minnesota, County of Olmsted. EX 18. RA 890. The Minnesota Court 

bifurcated the case and granted the parties a divorce on February 

18, 2014, and reserved the issues of spousal maintenance, 

division of property and debts, attorney fees, and other 

financial matters involving the parties, pending the outcome of 

the interpretation of the PMA in South Dakota. EX 11, 7-8-14 

trial. RA 226. The terms of the PMA required that the law of the 
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State of South Dakota would govern and the venue of any 

proceedings to interpret would be in Butte County, South Dakota. 

PMA, APP A, paragraph 15, p. 7. 

 This matter originated as a result of an Order from the 

Third Judicial District, State of Minnesota, County of Olmsted, 

Court File No. 55-FA-13-1830, executed by the Honorable Jodi L. 

Williamson on October 29, 2013, and filed on October 30, 2013, to 

determine the validity of the parties’ PMA. The Order directed 

that the issue of the validity and enforcement of the parties’ 

PMA was to be heard in Butte County. South Dakota. EX 9, 7-8-14 

Trial. APP B. RA 220. This Order was reinforced by the Minnesota 

Court by Supplemental Order entered April 21, 2014. EX 10, 7-8-14 

trial. APP C. RA 224. 

 On January 20, 2014, Angela filed a Summons and Complaint 

for Declaratory Judgment in the Sixth Circuit, Butte County, 

South Dakota, File No. 09CIV14-000006. RA 1, 2, 21, 22.   

 On February 18, 2014, Don answered the declaratory action 

with a Motion to Dismiss and a Limited Purpose Answer as well as 

a Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss. RA 42, 44, 124.  

 The trial court bifurcated the matters of validity/ 

enforceability and interpretation. A trial on the 

validity/enforceability of the PMA was held on July 8, 2014. The 

trial court issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on 

August 5, 2014, RA 319. APP D. The PMA was found to be valid and 
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enforceable pursuant to the Order on Validity of Pre-Marriage 

Agreement filed thereafter on October 16, 2014. RA 351.  A Notice 

of Entry was filed on March 11, 2015. RA 384. Don is not 

appealing the validity of the PMA. 

 A trial was held for a period of 9 days on April 20-24, 

2015 and August 24-27, 2015 to interpret the PMA as it related to 

the assets and debts of the parties, which included a 

determination of what of the existing assets and debts was 

separate property, what was marital property, or a combination of 

both separate and marital property.  To the extent necessary the 

trial Court also determined the value of said assets. 

 The trial court entered its Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law on April 8, 2016, RA 3194, and its Judgment 

and Order on June 27, 2016. RA 3382. 

 The Notice of Appeal was filed July 27, 2016. RA 3385. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 The parties were married on January 23, 1993, in Pennington 

County, South Dakota. FOF 1, 4-8-16, p. 3. RA 3194. Prior to the 

marriage, Don and Angela entered into a Pre-Marriage Agreement 

and each party had separate counsel during the drafting of the 

PMA. Angela had been through a previous divorce and wanted to 

protect her separate assets. Don had a negative net worth at the 

time of their marriage and they both wanted to protect her assets 

from his former wife.    
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Both had been through “messy” divorces. Angela had given up 

assets in her previous divorce; assets that she had counted 
on for retirement. Both parties had children from their 
previous marriage which they wished to independently 
provide for. Angela testified that there was also concern 
regarding whether her assets would be considered for 
Donald’s child support and alimony purposes. Donald also 

testified that part of the reason for the Agreement was to 
protect Angela’s assets and businesses. FOF 10, 8-5-14, RA 
319. APP D. 

The trial court considered Angela's separate property 

claims as set forth in the separate property tracing report 

prepared by her financial experts, VCG. EX 1K, Bates #27549-

27858. FOF 23, 4-8-16, pp. 8-9. In doing so, the trial court 

examined the extensive tracing of the parties’ various investment 

accounts, retirement accounts, business interests, real estate 

and other miscellaneous assets. Angela's tracing report, 

consisting of 310 pages, is extremely detailed and the trial 

court's findings contain a sampling of the tracings regarding 

transactions within identified asset categories. The trial court 

only examined and made findings and conclusions as to those 

assets in which Angela claimed a separate interest as of December 

31, 2013.1 

The trial court was charged with interpreting the contract 

of the parties as set forth in the terms of the PMA. In doing so, 

it was important for the trial court to understand the purpose 

                                                           
1 December 31, 2013 is the valuation date for the division 
of assets in the Minnesota case. The parties have other 
assets that are marital and subject to division by the 
Minnesota Court and were not subject to review by the trial 
court in this matter. 
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and intent of the PMA, which is set forth in the introductory 

paragraph of the PMA, and is four-fold: 

(1) specifically identify the separate assets and 
liabilities of each party accumulated prior to the 
marriage and existing as of the date of this 
Agreement; 

(2) to relinquish the right of each party that may or will 
arise solely by virtue of the marriage relationship as 
against the separate property of the other; 

(3) to define the rights of each party to the property 
acquired during the course of the marriage; and 

(4)  to recognize the rights of each party to dispose of 
separate property during their lifetime and upon 
death. 

APP A, p. 1. RA 173 

The trial court was further guided by the PMA in the 

definition of “separate property” which is contained in paragraph 

2, as follows: 

2. SEPARATE PROPERTY: 

A. Each party acknowledges and agrees that all 
property acquired and owned by the other as of the 
date of this Agreement shall be and remain the sole 
and separate property of that party. Each party, for 
himself or herself, and his or her heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns specifically 
relinquishes and disclaims any and all right, title, 
interest and claim of every kind or nature, regardless 
of the nature or source of that right, which will or 
may otherwise arise by virtue of the marriage. 

B. During lifetime, each party shall retain 
the sole and separate ownership and control of his or 
her separate property, and shall be free to manage, 
sell, control or otherwise dispose of such separate 
property. 
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C. Separate property as used in this Agreement 
shall include not only the assets described on 
attached Exhibits “A” and “B” but shall also include 

gains, income, income, (sic) interests, dividends, 
profits, and any other increases in value or decreases 
in debt, and issues therefrom.  

D. Each party shall be free to replace assets 
owned by him or her at the time of this Agreement, and 
to sell or otherwise receive proceeds attributable to 
separate property of each. The replacement and 
proceeds of separate property shall be and remain 
separate property, and shall not lose their character 
as separate property solely by change of the form or 
nature of the asset. 

E. Property received by either party through 
gift or inheritance shall remain the sole and separate 
property of the party so receiving or inheriting. 

F. Employment benefits including, but not 
limited to, pension, profit-sharing or any other 
employee benefit programs or plans shall remain the 
sole and separate property of the party so employed, 
and such benefit plan shall remain separate property, 
even following the marriage of the parties. Each party 
relinquishes any claim, right, interest or title to 
the employee benefit plans of the other, and such 
plans shall not be subject to division in the event of 
death, separation, or dissolution of the marriage. 

APP A, p. 2-3. RA 173. 

The PMA identifies each party’s separate assets and 

liabilities that existed at the time of the marriage in January 

1993. Don had “0 assets” at the time he signed the PMA. FOF 81, 

4-6-16, p. 26. APP A. RA 173. Angela had the following assets at 

the time she signed the PMA: 
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Asset Value 

TJPR, Inc. (50%) 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

$100,000 

STI, Inc. (50%) 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

$160,000 

JMCCS, Inc. (50%) 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

Less than $10,000 

House Equity 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

$2,800 

Checking Account 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

Approximately 
$2,000 

Edward D. Jones & Co. Account No. 570-
04012-1-8 consisting of money market 
accounts, stocks and mutual funds 
having an accumulated balance as of 
December 31, 1992 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

$68,646 

Personal property consisting of two 
vehicles, household furnishings and 
miscellaneous personal property 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

$20,000 

Edward Jones IRA #0085-1-9 

EX 1G(1)(a), Bate #11724 

$7,373.20 

Liabilities  

Remaining balance on mortgage for 
residence 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

$58,000 

Business debts personally guaranteed 

EX 1A(1)- Exhibit B to PMA 

$90,000 
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FOF 81, 4-8-16, p. 26-27. APP A, p. 10. RA 173. 

 Don relinquished and disclaimed any and all right, title, 

interest and claim of every kind or nature, regardless of the 

nature or source of that right which may otherwise arise by 

virtue of his marriage, to Angela’s separate property pursuant to 

Paragraph 2A of the PMA. APP A, p 2. RA 173. FOF 81, 4-8-16, p. 

27. RA 3194. 

The trial court was provided further guidance by the terms 

of the PMA on how to address the issue of commingling of separate 

property. The PMA addresses commingling in two separate 

paragraphs: Paragraph 5 and Paragraph 9C.  Paragraph 5 states as 

follows: 

5. COMMINGLING: 

Parties shall use their best efforts to prevent any 
commingling of separate property. The commingling of 
separate property, or the failure to segregate separate 
property, shall not be construed as to change the character 
of separate property or otherwise result in a change of 
separate property to marital property.  [Emphasis added] 

APP A, p. 4. RA 173. FOF 82, 4-8-16, p. 27. RA 3194. 

The introductory language in paragraph 9C makes it clear 

that no statement or act modifies the PMA:  

9. ORAL STATEMENTS: 

No statement or act by either party, from and after 
the date of this Agreement, shall have the effect of 
amendment, or modifying this Agreement. . . In addition, 
under no circumstances shall the following event, either 
individually or collectively, be construed as evidence of 
any intention, express or implied, or of any agreement, 
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actual or implied, to change the character of separate 
property: 

*** 

C. The commingling of either spouse of his or her 
separate funds with the separate funds of the other party 
or with any marital property. [Emphasis added.] 

APP A, p. 5. RA 173. FOF 82, 4-8-16, p. 28. RA 3194. 

The Court also needed to apply the marital loan concept 

found in Paragraph 9F of the PMA, which provides: 

9F. In the event that marital property or separate 
property of either party is contributed toward separate 
property or debt of the other, such contribution shall be 
deemed a loan, payable on demand, without interest, unless 
the parties agree otherwise, in writing. 

APP A, p. 6. RA 173. FOF 83, 4-8-16, p. 28. RA 3194. 

The VCG tracing report, Angela's expert report, takes into 

consideration all of the PMA paragraphs collectively. TR 962:20-

24. VCG assumed Angela's separate assets remained separate 

property in accordance with Paragraph 2A of the PMA, with any 

marital contributions to those separate assets designated as a 

loan from the marital estate, as described in Paragraph 9F. Most 

noteworthy is the provision of paragraph 2C in the PMA that 

states Angela's gains, income, income, (sic) interests, 

dividends, profits, and any other increases in value remain 

separate. APP A, p. 2. RA 173. 

This included the income from her businesses at the time, 

Taco John's Pine Ridge (TJPR), Taco John's Belle Fourche, (STI, 
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Inc.) and Taco John's Mission (JMCCS, Inc.). Her income and 

profits from those businesses were used by the parties to fund 

other business interests during the marriage, thereby creating a 

separate interest in the above referenced assets. VCG considered 

any assets acquired with marital and separate contributions after 

the date of the marriage to have both marital and separate 

components. If Angela’s separate funds were traced into an asset, 

despite her separate funds flowing through joint accounts prior 

to the purchase of that asset, the acquired asset remains 

Angela's separate property. EX 1K, P. 3, Bates #27551. FOF 86, 4-

8-16, p. 29. RA 3194.  

The following assets that either existed prior to the 

marriage or were acquired during the marriage were identified by 

VCG in their tracing report as being either Angela’s separate 

property, or containing a portion of Angela’s separate property: 

EX 1K, Schedule S-1, P. 19-20, Bates #27567-#27568. FOF 94, 4-8-

16, p. 31. RA 3194. 

 

Investment Accounts: 

1. Angela’s Edward Jones Investment Act. #7191-1-8 

2. Joint Edward Jones Investment Account #7183-1-8 

3. Don’s Edward Jones Investment Account #7272-1-9 

4. Joint Edward Jones Investment Account #6236-1-6 

5. Angela’s Edward Jones Investment Account #1297-1-3 

6. Joint Home Federal Checking Account #2730 
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Retirement Accounts: 

1. Angela’s Edward Jones IRA #0592-1-9 

2. Angela’s Edward Jones Taco John’s Simple IRA #0314-1-6 

3. Angela’s Edward Jones Taco John’s Simple IRA 7610-1-2 

4. Don’s Edward Jones Roth IRA #7583-1-5 

 

Business Interests: 

1. Edward Jones Limited Partnership Interest 

2. Edward Jones General Partnership Interest 

3. Edward Jones Subordinated Limited Partnership Interest 

4. Superior Financial Group, LLC  

5. BDUBS, LLC (Buffalo Wild Wings Rapid City) 

6. SFME, Inc. (Sioux Falls Massage Envy) 

7. ME Rogers Inc. (Rogers Massage Envy) 

8. TJPR (Taco John’s of Pine Ridge, LLC)  

 

Real Estate: 

1. 3244 Lake Street NW, Rochester, Minnesota 

2. Norman, Oklahoma condo sale proceeds 

Miscellaneous: 

1. Hardcore Computers Stock 

2. 2013 Tax Refund Receivable 

Don disputed VCG’s analysis of Angela’s separate property, 

and hired Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP (hereinafter “Baker 

Tilly”) to review VCG’s tracing analysis. Baker Tilly prepared a 

report, EX V. However,  the Baker Tilly report is simply a 
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schedule to identify each party’s contribution to only one of the 

parties' joint accounts, the Edward Jones #7183 joint account. TR 

1447:11-14. APP E. Baker Tilly assumed the joint Edward Jones 

#7183 account was used to acquire marital property and pay 

ordinary living expenses.2 Baker Tilly, did not prepare a 

rebuttal tracing report to the VCG report.  

Mr. Harjes has been a speaker on separate tracing claims in 

the State of Minnesota. In addition, he has been a financial 

neutral in cases involving Ms. Rohr’s firm (Minnesota counsel for 

Plaintiff). TR 1440:3-13. APP E.  Mr. Harjes acknowledged that 

his own teaching materials discuss the "direct tracing" method 

and the "pro rata approach" method used by VCG in their report 

and he uses those same methodologies in his own reports. He 

further acknowledged that the VCG report is a typical tracing 

report using the generally accepted methodologies for tracing in 

Minnesota. TR 1435:1-3. APP E. 

Both Angela's experts and Don's expert agreed that when a 

PMA is involved in tracing, the methodology is tailored to the 

terms of the contract, thereby often creating a need to depart 

from the standard tracing methodologies if the contract terms 

dictate otherwise.    TR 961-962. APP H. 1436:2-7. APP E.  

                                                           
2 There were many flaws in the assumptions used in this 
report. TR 1449:3-24; 1453:2-6; 1473:5-17; 1481:10-25. EX 
26. APP F. TR 1482:15-25; 1483:1-18. EX 29. APP G. 1531:22-
25; 1532; 1533:1-6. 
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Don's expert acknowledged that Angela has a separate 

property interest in the following assets: 

a. STI, Inc. (Taco John's Belle Fourche); TR 1427:3-6 

b. Any distributions from STI, Inc., other than those 
going in the 7183 Edward Jones account; TR 1427:7-10 

c. Angela’s Edward Jones IRA #0592; TR 1427:20-24 

d. Angela’s Edward Jones Taco John’s Simple IRA #0314; 
TR 1429:10-17 

e. Current Minnesota home of the parties; TR 1429:24-25 
& 1430:1-4 

f. Angela’s Edward Jones #7191 account; TR 1430:11-13 

g. Oklahoma condominium sale proceeds. TR 1430:15-18 

Baker Tilly did not quantify the value of Angela’s separate 

interest in those assets.3 The only tracing schedule in evidence 

regarding Angela's separate property claims is the VCG report. 

EX 1K. FOF 103, 4-8-16, p. 33. RA 3194. 

   The trial court examined over 27,000 pages of exhibits and 

had the benefit of judging the credibility of the witnesses over 

the course of nine days, as well as in the previous hearing on 

validity/enforceability. 

The trial court agreed with, and properly adopted, the VCG 

tracing report. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

                                                           
3 It is noteworthy that the tracing of some of these assets 
involved the marital loan concept. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

  

The trial court’s “findings of facts, reviewed under the 

clearly erroneous standard, will not be overturned unless the 

reviewing court is left with a firm conviction that a mistake has 

been made.” Smetana v. Smetana, 2007 S.D. 5, ¶7, 726 N.W.2d 887, 

891 (quoting Godfrey v. Godfrey, 2005 S.D. 101, ¶11, 705 N.W.2d 

77, 80). Conversely, conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. Id. 

(quoting Sanford v. Sanford, 2005 S.D. 34, ¶12, 694 N.W.2d 283, 

287).  

The credibility of the witnesses, the import to be 
accorded their testimony, and the weight of the 
evidence must be determined by the trial court, and we 
give due regard to the trial court’s opportunity to 

observe the witnesses and examine the evidence. In re 
Estate of Gustafson, 2007 S.D. 46, ¶13, 731 N.W.2d 
922, 926 (quoting In re Estate of Schnell, 2004 S.D. 
80, ¶8, 683 N.W.2d 415, 418). Estate of Smid, 2008 
S.D. 82, ¶11, 756 N.W.2d 1. 

 

 

 ISSUE 1 

 

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADOPTED ANGELA’S EXPERT 

REPORT. THE REPORT DID NOT LACK FOUNDATION AND WAS 
CONSISTENT WITH THE TERMS OF THE PMA. 

This Court has stated: “We review a [circuit] court's 

decision to admit or deny an expert's testimony under the abuse 

of discretion standard." State v. Johnson, 2015 S.D. 7, ¶30, 860 
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N.W.2d 235, 247. In reviewing evidentiary rulings of a trial 

court, this Court has held it is not free to substitute its own 

judgment for that of the trial court. “Our test on review is not 

whether we would make a similar ruling, but rather whether a 

judicial mind, in view of the law and the circumstances, could 

have reasonably reached the same conclusion.” State v. Bingham 

1999 S.D. 78, ¶6, 600 N.W.2d 521 (citing State v. Chamley, 1997 

S.D. 107, ¶7, 568 N.W.2d 607, 611). 

Angela's expert report EX 1K., from Value Consulting Group, 

hereinafter referred to as "VCG", was received into evidence 

after the parties stipulated to the foundation of the exhibit on 

the first day of trial. TR 14-15. The admittance of the exhibit 

was later confirmed by Defendant’s counsel and the trial court 

when trial resumed on August 24, 2016. TR 952-953. APP H. 

Don, having stipulated as to the foundation of Angela’s 

expert report prepared by VCG, EX 1K, TR 14, cannot now argue 

there was a lack of foundation when no timely foundational 

objection was made at the trial court level nor was a Daubert 

challenge ever made. Even if the objection was timely, it was 

correctly rejected. 

SDCL 19-19-702 governs the admissibility of expert 

testimony. It provides: 

Testimony by expert. A witness who is qualified as an 
expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or 
education, may testify thereto in the form of an 
opinion or otherwise if: 
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(a)  The expert’s scientific, technical, or other 
specialized knowledge will help the trier of fact 
to understand the evidence or to determine a fact 
in issue;  

(b)  The testimony is based on sufficient facts or data;  

(c) The testimony is the product of reliable principles 
and methods; and 

(d)  The expert has reliably applied the principles and 
methods to the facts of the case.  

This Court has stated on previous occasions that: 

Whether a witness is qualified as an expert can only 
be determined by comparing the area in which the 
witness has superior knowledge, skill, experience or 
education with the subject matter of the witness’s 
testimony. State v. Fisher, 2011 S.D. 74, ¶41, 805 
N.W.2d at 571, 580 … (citations omitted)  

  

 Don’s claim that Angela's experts based their report 

"largely" on the "intent" of Angela is factually incorrect. FOF 

39, 4-8-16, p. 13. RA 3194. VCG provided a written analysis 

regarding their findings. EX 1K.  

 Tracing cases are common in the State of Minnesota and are 

document driven. TR 955:24. Angela’s experts were very 

experienced in doing tracing reports.4 Tracing is the act of 

taking document data and determining what portion of those assets 

are separate versus what portion of those assets are marital. VCG 

reviewed over 27,000 pages of documentation, TR 958:20-21, 

provided by Angela. The document gathering process started in 

                                                           
4 Don stipulated to the expert credentials of Angela’s 
expert. TR 11:l, 15-17. 
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June 2013 and it took VCG nearly 15 months to complete their 

written analysis. TR 956:19-22. 

The VCG report used bank statements, check registers, 

investment statements and retirement account statements. TR 

956:1-3. For the businesses, the report used business tax 

returns, financial statements and general ledgers. TR 956:3-5. 

For real estate, the report used check registers, bank 

statements, appraisals, settlement statements and mortgage 

documents. TR 956:5-7. After VCG received the initial bulk of 

documents, spanning 20 years, VCG spent approximately six days 

with Angela and her then counsel, going through each account 

statement and analyzing the different transactions. TR 1033:22-

25; 1034:1-3. It is in this process that they obtained factual 

information from Angela, not what her "intent" was.   

The narrative summary of the VCG report explains the 

methodology used for tracing the Charlsons’ assets. EX 1K, pp. 1-

18, Bates #27549-27566. The various schedules following the 

narrative summary take the data from the documents and physically 

use that data to trace the assets between separate and marital 

property. TR 954:3-5. FOF 91 4-8-16, p. 30. RA 3194. 

The VCG report used several tracing methods commonly used 

in the State of Minnesota,5 as follows:  

                                                           
5 There are few tracing cases in the State of South Dakota 
and none involving premarital agreements. 
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a. "Direct Tracing" is done when specific events 
happen within a close period of time. TR. 954:19-
20 

 

b. The "Pro Rata Approach” is applied by looking at 
an account balance over time and distinguishing 
what portion of that account balance is comprised 
of separate funds and what portion is marital 
funds. As transactions occur, those transactions 
are carried forward based upon the previous 
month’s percentage of separate versus marital 

funds in the account. TR 955:3-12. For example, 
if a withdrawal takes place in December, the 
percentage of separate versus marital funds from 
the prior month’s end (November) is applied to 

December’s withdrawal(s). TR 955:12-14 
 

The language in the PMA contract supersedes generally 

accepted methodologies and the contracted language in the PMA was 

applied, when relevant, to the tracing analysis.  TR 960:12-16; 

TR 961:17-21. The different methodologies used by VCG in the 

report were based upon generally accepted methods of tracing as 

well as the terms of the PMA, not based upon Angela’s 

interpretation of the PMA. Angela's expert testimony explained 

what the methodologies used in the tracing analysis were based 

upon:  

…development of the methodology, using both generally 
accepted methods of tracing in our field, as well as giving 
consideration to the pre-marriage agreement and how that 
may change what our normal methodology might look like… 

[Emphasis added.] TR 952:5-9.  

Don’s expert, Mr. Harjes, agreed Angela’s experts used 

methodologies that are commonly used. TR 1435:3. He further 

admitted sometimes one has to stray from the standard methodology 
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because the contract terms of the pre-marriage agreement would 

dictate what you had to do. TR 1436:8-12.  

 The trial court correctly admitted the VCG report and 

accepted the application of its methodologies to the terms of the 

PMA.  

 ISSUE 2 

 

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN INTERPRETING THE PMA AS 
PERMITING TRACING OF EARNINGS OR PROPERTY THROUGH THE 
JOINT MARITAL BANK ACCOUNT OF THE PARTIES. 

  

 The trial court did not err in finding and concluding 

separate property traced through joint bank accounts remained 

separate property and the trial court enforced the agreement the 

parties previously contracted for in the PMA. The trial court 

relied, in part, on the following relevant portions of the PMA: 

*Paragraph 2 C of the PMA defines separate 
property as “…not only the assets described on 

attached Exhibits “A” and “B” but shall also include 
gains, income, income (sic) interests, dividends, 
profits, and any other increases in value or decreases 
in debt. . ."  

 

*Paragraph 2 D of the PMA provides, "proceeds of 
separate property shall be and remain separate 
property, and shall not lose their character as 
separate property solely by change of the form or 
nature of the asset."  
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*Paragraph 5 of the PMA provides, "The 
commingling of separate property, or the failure to 
segregate separate property, shall not be construed as 
to change the character of separate property or 
otherwise result in a change of separate property to 
marital property." 

 

*Paragraph 9 of the PMA provides, "No statement 
or act by either party, from and after the date of the 
this Agreement, shall have the effect of amendment, of 
modifying this Agreement." Additionally, “under no 

circumstances shall the following events, either 
individually or collectively, be construed as evidence 
of any intention, express or implied, or of any 
agreement, actual or implied, to change the character 
of separate property:” 9C provides, "The commingling 

of either spouse of his or her separate funds with the 
separate or separate funds of the other party or with 
any marital property."  

 

APP A, p. 2-3, 4, 5-6. RA 173. 

 

The trial court found Don's position at trial ignored the 

commingling language in the PMA. COL 24-26 4-8-16, p. 175-176. RA 

3194. Further the trial court found Angela's experts were 

consistent in their analysis regarding the application of 

methodologies of direct tracing and pro rata tracing and the 

marital loan concept to the terms of the PMA. FOF 130, 4-8-16, p. 

39. RA 3194. 

Paragraph 7 of the PMA provides for a bank account to be 

established, what payments are allowed to be made from said 

account, and that the account may be used for any acquisition of 
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marital property.6  APP A, p. 4, RA 173. The definition of 

marital property is provided for in Paragraph 4, which is subject 

to Paragraph 2.  

4. MARITAL PROPERTY: 

 

Except as specifically provided above, property 
acquired by the parties from and after the date of 
their marriage, and continuing through the marriage, 
shall be deemed marital property. No waiver, release or 
relinquishment of any right, title, claim or interest 
in and to the separate property of the other shall be 
construed as relinquishment of any right or interest in 
marital property. Property acquired from and after the 
date of the marriage, and continuing through the course 
of the marriage, shall remain marital property 
regardless of designation of title or ownership of such 
assets. [Emphasis added.] APP A, p. 3. RA 173. 

 

Paragraph 4 of the PMA does not state all property 

acquired during the marriage will be marital. It states 

“[E]xcept as specifically provided above” (Paragraphs 2 and 

3), property acquired by the parties during their marriage 

shall be deemed marital property.” [Emphasis added.] 

 One first determines what is separate property, which 

remains separate. After that determination, the remaining 

property would be deemed marital.  

                                                           
6 Appellant’s Brief at page 12 references “Angela’s proposed 
COL 23 which was adopted by the Trial Court”.  Angela’s 

proposed COL 23 was not adopted by the trial court as COL 
23. 
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 Don's singular focus on Paragraph 7 of the PMA is 

misplaced. Paragraph 7 simply provides for an account under the 

heading ORDINARY LIVING EXPENSES (not as denoted by Appellant as 

a “joint marital bank account”). The account, as the title 

implies, is to fund ordinary living expenses of the parties. It 

can also be used to acquire marital property. Marital property is 

defined in Paragraph 4 of the PMA including it’s reference to the 

Separate Property provisions. There is no evidence or testimony 

that either party intended on acquiring marital property when 

entering into the PMA, nor that they were required to acquire 

marital property.  The PMA is void of any language regarding such 

intent. The parties’ intent was to protect Angela’s separate 

property which not only included those assets described on 

Exhibit B to the PMA, but also gains, income, interests, 

dividends, profits and any other increases in value or decreases 

in debt and issues therefrom. APP A, p. 2. RA 173. 

 Don’s interpretation of Paragraph 7 of the PMA is that any 

funds that went into a joint account, specifically the joint 

Edward Jones #7183 account, lost their separate property 

characteristic and were used for purchases of marital assets. 

Don’s position suggests the intent of Paragraph 7 of the PMA was 

to benefit the marital estate only.  However, nothing in the PMA 

suggests the purpose of the contract was to limit or destroy a 

party’s separate property; the purpose was to protect a party’s 

separate property. In cases where there’s a pre-marriage 

agreement, the PMA should be more beneficial to separate 
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property, not less beneficial. TR 1026:21-24. As the trial court 

found, Don's position renders Paragraphs 5 and 9C of the PMA 

meaningless. COL 24, 4-8-16, p. 175. RA 3194. 

 Paragraph 7 of the PMA is void of any language to suggest 

that separate property put into and commingled with marital 

property in a jointly owned bank account suddenly becomes marital 

property.  FOF 271, 4-8-16, p. 68. RA 3194.  Paying for ordinary 

necessary living expenses with a person’s separate property does 

not create marital property; separate property is simply being 

used to pay a debt or to pay an expense. Paragraph 5 of the PMA 

insures that while Angela can put money into the joint account, 

it is simply the act of her putting some of her separate property 

into the account; not the magical changing of that property into 

marital property. COL 28, 4-8-16, p. 174. FOF 149, 4-8-16, p.43, 

and FOF 266 4-8-16, p. 67. RA 3194. 

5.  COMMINGLING: 

Parties shall use their best efforts to prevent any 
commingling of separate property. The commingling of 
separate property, or the failure to segregate 
separate property, shall not be construed as to change 
the character of separate property or otherwise result 
in a change of separate property to marital property. 
APP A, p. 4. RA 173. 
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It is necessary to remember that Don’s income is all marital 

money,7 so anything that is traceable to the expenditure of his 

funds is going to create marital property.     

 Now that the terms of the contract are being enforced and 

interpreted, Don no longer likes the agreement he made, but the 

evidence is quite clear that it was the intent of both parties to 

maintain a separate property interest, even if it was commingled. 

This Court has held that even when a person makes a bad bargain, 

it is not for the trial court to provide relief for a party who 

voluntarily enters into an agreement. Jameson v. Jameson, 1999 

S.D. 129, ¶20, 600 N.W.2d 577. 

 Don’s suggestion that the parties’ actions during the 

marriage are better indicators of the parties’ intent simply 

ignores the requirements of contract interpretation. The parties' 

intent during the marriage (as opposed to at the time of entry 

into the PMA) is not relevant to the contract interpretation 

before this Court. The only time intent is relevant is when a 

contract is ambiguous, in which case the court must determine the 

intent of the parties at the time of the making of the agreement: 

“when there is an ambiguous contract, evidence must be introduced 

to determine what the intentions of the parties were and … such 

evidence creates a question of fact[.]” Gail M. Benson Living Tr. 

v. Physicians Office Bldg., Inc., 2011 S.D. 30, ¶16, 800 N.W.2d 

340. However this Court has also made clear in Roth v. Roth, 1997 

                                                           
7 This is in contrast to Angela’s income which comes from 
her separate property. 
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S.D. 75, ¶16, 565 N.W.2d 782, when discussing a premarital 

agreement, that the contract was not ambiguous simply because the 

parties did not agree on its construction or their intent upon 

executing the contract, but it was ambiguous only if it was 

capable of more than one meaning when read objectively by a 

“reasonably intelligent person who examined the context of the 

entire integrated document.” [Emphasis added.] 

 

  Angela's decision to deposit her separate funds into joint 

accounts does not defeat her claim to separate property as set 

forth in Paragraph 9 of the PMA. APP A,   p. 3, RA 173. Further, 

she testified the reasons she would deposit money into joint 

accounts was based on the following: 

- Her separate #7191 account did not have check-writing 
privileges. TR 255:21-22 

 

- She could easily trace transfers into a joint account. TR 
256:4-7; 20-23 

 

- She would deposit her separate funds into a joint account 
that did have check writing capabilities to purchase 
separate property.  TR 345:8-18. 

 

- It was convenient to transfer her separate funds to the 
joint #7183 account. TR 347:8-11. Don was her investment 
advisor at Edward Jones. TR 347:22-23.  

 

-There was no bank in Pine Ridge, South Dakota. TR 592:3-5. 
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While her reasoning is irrelevant to the tracing, Paragraph 

9 of the PMA is clear that no act has the effect of amending the 

PMA. In fact, Don completely ignores the preamble language in 

Paragraph 9 which has two compelling provisions consistently 

over-looked by Don. First, Paragraph 9 states: “No statement or 

act by either party, from and after the date of this Agreement, 

shall have the effect of amendment, of modifying this Agreement.”  

[Emphasis added].  Paragraph 9 goes on to state:  

In addition, under no circumstances shall the 
following events, either individually or collectively, 
be construed as evidence of any intention, express or 
implied, or of any agreement, actual or implied, to 
change the character of separate property: 

**** 

C.  The commingling of either spouse of his or 
her separate funds with the separate or separate (sic) 
funds of the other party or with any marital property; 

[Emphasis added]. APP A, p. 5. RA 173. 

Further Don's own financial expert, Mr. Harjes, 

acknowledged Angela had a separate interest in assets that were 

purchased with separate funds that flowed through joint accounts. 

For example, Mr. Harjes agreed Angela has a separate interest in 

her Taco John's Simple IRA #0314. TR 1429:15-17. Although Mr. 

Harjes did not quantify the separate interest, the IRA was 

created with funds transferred through the joint account. See EX 

1K, Schedule AC-4, Bates #27764.  Mr. Harjes agreed Angela has a 

separate interest in the current marital home and the condo sale 
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proceeds, although he does not quantify the separate interest. TR 

1429:22-25; 1430:1-4, 15-18. These assets were purchased with 

transfers through the joint #7183 account. EX 1K, Schedule RE-1, 

Bates #27838, & Schedule RE-2, Bates  #27850. Mr. Harjes further 

agreed that commingling of marital and separate property does not 

necessarily extinguish a separate property interest. TR 1436:24-

25; 1437:1-4. Don's current position is contrary to his own trial 

expert's testimony regarding the tracing of separate funds 

through joint accounts.8  

 The mere act of Angela putting her separate funds into a 

joint account did not extinguish her separate property interest, 

as she could not modify the PMA by virtue of her actions. Her 

expert tracing report preserved her separate property claim in 

accordance with the application of all the terms of the PMA. The 

terms of the PMA determine if an asset is Angela's separate 

property, marital or a combination of both marital and separate 

property. Don is reading paragraph 7 of the PMA in a vacuum and 

is ignoring the other provisions of the contract.  

 The trial court properly construed the document as a whole.  

ISSUE 3 

THE CONCEPT OF A MARITAL LOAN EXISTS PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH 
9F OF THE PRE-MARRIAGE AGREEMENT. 

                                                           
8 Appellant states on his page 10, under section B, “the 
Trial Court adopted Angela’s FOF 155.” Angela’s proposed 

Findings did not contain a FOF 155. 
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Paragraph 9F of the PMA provides: 

In the event that marital property or separate 
property of either party is contributed toward 
separate property or debts of the other, such 
contribution shall be deemed a loan, payable on 
demand, without interest, unless the parties agree 
otherwise, in writing. [Emphasis added.] APP A, p. 6. 
RA 173.  

Contrary to Don's claim, VCG did not invent the concept of the 

marital loan; the parties did that in January 1993 during the 

drafting of the PMA. 

 The trial court adopted Angela's expert tracing methodology 

as it pertained to the marital loans. FOF 158, 4-8-16, p. 45. RA 

3194. FOF 573, 4-6-16, p. 153. RA 3194. The general methodology 

used when tracing Angela's separate property was that separate 

assets remained separate property, with any marital contributions 

designated as a loan from the marital estate. See PMA paragraph 

9F, APP A, p. 6. RA 173. Don is quick to criticize Angela's 

experts’ use of the marital loan methodology, yet Don did not 

provide any alternative theory at trial as to how to deal with 

the marital loan language in Paragraph 9F. Nor did Don point out 

to the trial court the effect of eliminating the loan concept. 

The only party setting forth a methodology on how to treat the 

marital loan concept in Paragraph 9F of the PMA was Angela.  
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 Paragraph 9F of the PMA defines how a marital loan is 

created. APP A, p. 6. RA 173. Angela's financial expert explained 

the marital loan as follows:  

Yes. Looking at Page 6 of the pre-marriage agreement, which 
was provision 9F,……… “In the event that marital property or 
separate property of either party is contributed toward 
separate property or debts of the other, such contribution 
shall be deemed a loan, payable on demand without interest 
unless the parties agree otherwise.” So it’s based on this 
provision that if marital funds get paid toward a separate 
asset, it creates a marital loan.  TR 968:3-13.  

 Don's claim the marital loan concept was "fiction"  

lacks merit. Don's own expert, Mr. Harjes, acknowledged at trial 

that he uses the same direct tracing methodology and the pro rata 

approach when preparing his own tracing analysis. TR 1435:8-19. 

Don's expert also acknowledged the terms of a PMA supersede 

traditional tracing methodologies.  

 Q.  Yes. If you have an antenuptial contract that’s 

provided to you, or a pre-marriage agreement, and 
you’re asked to do a tracing, you have to formulate 

your methodology to the terms of the pre-marriage 
agreement; is that correct?  

 

 A.  Yes. 

  

 Q.  And sometimes you have to stray from the standard 
methodology, because the contract terms of the pre-
marriage agreement would dictate what you had to do?  

 A.  Yes. 

  TR 1436:2-12.(Testimony of T. Harjes) 
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VCG had to apply the marital loan methodology in certain 

circumstances in accordance with Paragraph 9F of the PMA. APP A, 

p. 6. RA 173.  

 The actions of the parties created marital loans during the 

marriage, whether or not the parties understood that was 

occurring. The issue of Angela's “intent” during the marriage is 

irrelevant as to how VCG treated repayment of the marital loan 

balances noted in the tracing report.9 The intention is 

manifested by the language of the agreement and thus is to be 

enforced. Smetana v. Smetama, 2007 S.D. 5, ¶16, 726 N.W.2d 877. 

Both parties' experts testified it is common for parties not to 

understand the movement of funds and how that impacts tracing. 

Ms. Loeffler of VCG stated: 

 Q.  Now, in your experience as a financial expert,  is it 
common for parties to not understand the consequence 
of certain movement of funds and how that impacts a 
formal tracing? 

 A.  Yes. I would say it’s very common. When we meet with 

parties doing tracing, they often don’t realize that 

by certain actions and movements of their funds that 
their separate or non-marital claims can be negatively 
impacted.  

 

 TR 970:1-9. 

  

 Mr. Harjes testified to the following on cross examination:  

                                                           
9 Don misapplies the case law on a party being bound to 
their stated “facts.”  What Angela thought she was doing  

is not the same as what the contract actually does. 
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 Q.  Well, have you worked with clients who have not been 
financially savvy?  

  A.  Yes.  

 Q.  Have you worked with clients who do not have an 
understanding of financial issues?  

 A.  Yes.  

 Q.  Have you worked with clients who did not understand 
contract terms?  

 

 A.  Yes.  

  

 Q.  Have you worked with clients who do not understand how 
to read a financial statement?  

 A.  Yes.   

 Q.  And have you worked with clients that do not 
understand how your firm has handled his or her 
nonmarital tracing analysis?  

 A.  Initially, that’s usually the case. But by the end, 
typically, they’re on board. 

 Q. Not always, though; right?  

 A.  They might not like the results. I'll say that.”  

 

  TR 1496:3-25; TR 1497:1.   

Angela should not be held to the standard of an attorney to 

understand contract interpretation. Angela did not graduate from 

college. TR 304:25; 305:1. The fact she failed to understand how 

the marital loan concept worked does not extinguish the concept 
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set forth in the PMA. The document speaks for itself. On more 

than one occasion during the trial, Judge Day confirmed his 

understanding that Angela was relying on her experts and that she 

accepted their tracing methodology and conclusions. See for 

example: TR 356:4, 12, 15, 19; 357:2. 

 The trial court Court adopted VCG’s methodology and tracing 

analysis as it pertained to the marital loan concept in Paragraph 

9F of the PMA. It was the only methodology on the marital loan 

concept set forth at trial. 

 ISSUE 4 

 

THE CREATION OF THE MARITAL LOANS DID NOT REQUIRE 
MUTUAL CONSENT.  

 The trial court previously concluded in the August 5, 2014 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law the PMA was valid and 

enforceable. COL 16, 8-5-14, p 14. APP D. RA 319. The trial court 

found that the parties voluntarily entered into the agreement, 

which included the provision on the creation of marital loans.  

 Don's argument that mutual consent was needed to create a 

marital loan is contrary to the terms of the PMA. Once again, Don 

ignores the clear and unambiguous language in Paragraph 9F of the 

PMA which states,  

In the event that marital property or separate 
property of either party is contributed to separate 
property or debts of the other, such contribution 
shall be deemed a loan, payable on demand, without 
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interest, unless the parties agree otherwise, in 
writing. [Emphasis added.] 

 APP A, p. 6. RA 173. 

 Don argues that because the section states the loan is 

payable on demand without interest that consent is necessary.  He 

confuses the creation of the loan with the payment of the loan. 

The tracing showed the payoff of the loans and the remaining 

loan, which is a marital asset. 

 Marital loans were created automatically pursuant to this 

paragraph as the word "shall" is used in this section. No consent 

was needed. In fact, the language regarding written agreement is 

necessary only if the parties did not want it to be a marital 

loan. “When the meaning of contractual language is plain and 

unambiguous, construction is not necessary.” Pesicka v. Pesicka, 

2000 S.D. 137, ¶6, 618 N.W.2d 275. The trial court’s 

interpretation is consistent with the language of the PMA, and 

the parties mutually consented to the PMA terms, including the 

concept of a marital loan.  

 CONCLUSION 

 

 One of the primary goals of Pre-Marriage Agreements is to 

alter state-prescribed property rights, which would otherwise 

arise on dissolution of marriage. Pre-marriage 
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agreements include the right to contractually dispose of separate 

and marital property. Walker v.Walker, 2009 S.D. 31, ¶21, 765 

N.W.2d 747. COL 6, p. 170. RA 3194. 

     This case involved a long trial with thousands of pages of 

exhibits. Judge Day paid close attention during the trial as was 

obvious by his clear understanding of the exhibits and the 

testimony.10 

The parties disagreed on factual matters, but “The trial 

court is the judge of credibility and it is the trial court’s 

duty to weigh the testimony and resolve any conflicts.” Estate of 

Smid, 2008 S.D. 82, 756 N.W.2d 1. 

  The trial court was charged with interpreting the terms of 

a valid contract. The trial court did not rewrite the contract, 

the court interpreted the terms in the manner as written and as a 

whole, and with the understanding of the stated purposes of the 

PMA. Don’s attempt to pick and choose which portions should apply 

was properly rejected by the trial court.  

 This Court should affirm, in its entirety, the trial 

court’s decision. 

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

 Appellant respectfully requests Oral Argument. 

 

                                                           
10 See for example: TR 357:20; 430:2; 497:6; 726:2,5; 781:23; 
893:5,18; 894:10-16. 
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 Respectfully submitted this  27th  day of October, 2016.  

 

 

    /s/ Linda Lea M. Viken              

    Linda Lea M. Viken  

    VIKEN & RIGGINS LAW FIRM 

    Co-Counsel for Appellee 

    4200 Beach Drive, Ste. 4 

    Rapid City SD 57702 

    (605) 721-7230 

 

 

    /s/ Shelly D. Rohr 

    Shelly D. Rohr, Minnesota Attorney 

 I.D. No. 0216392* 

    WOLF, ROHR, GEMBERLING, & ALLEN, P.A. 

 Co-Counsel for Appellee 
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) IN CIRCUIT COURT
)SS
) FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUITCOUNTY OF BUTTE

ANGELA K. CHARLSON

Plaintiff,

) Civ. No. 14-06
)
)

)

)

) FINDINGS OF FACT AND
) CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
)
)

)

v.

DONALD M. CHARLSON

Defendant.

The above-entitled matter having come before this Court for a trial to the court on the 8th

day of July, 2014, the Honorable Michael W. Day presiding. The issue to be determined is the

validity of the Pre-Marriage Agreement of the parties. The Plaintiff was personally present and

represented by her counsel, Linda Lea M. Viken. The Defendant was personally present and

represented by his counsel, Michael K. Sabers. Eva Cheney Hatcher, one of the Minnesota

attorneys for Plaintiff in her divorce action, was also present.

The parties stipulated to the admission of all exhibits, Plaintiff s Exhibits 1 through 14

and Defendant's Exhibits A through G which were received and admitted. The parties submitted
\

pre and post-trial submissions as well as proposed findings and conclusions. Testimony at trial

was provided by Defendant, attorney Michael McKnight, attorney Richard A. Pluimer, and the

Plaintiff. The Court having considered all the records and files herein, including all the

submissions, as well as the evidence introduced, both oral and documentary, the arguments of

counsel, and having heard the testimony, and being fully advised as to all matters pertinent

hereto, the Court makes the following:
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FINDINGS OF FACT

L

The matter before the Court is not a divorce action but instead an interpretation of a

document, a Pre-Marriage Agreement executed by the parties in the state of South Dakota.

2.

Plaintiff filed a Declaratory Judgment action, which included in part, an Order from the

District Court, Third Judicial District, Olmstead County, Minnesota, concluding that Butte

County, South Dakota, was the proper venue to determine issues of validity and enforceability of

the parties' Pre-Marriage Agreement (hereinafter "Agreement"). Plaintif's Exhibits 9 and 10.

Angela's verified pleadings list assets in South Dakota. Donald testified that he has interests in

property in South Dakota.

3.

The Summons and verified Complaint for Declaratory Judgment were personally served

upon Defendant on January 20, 2014.

4. \

Defendant, Donald Charlson, (hereinafter "Donald") filed a Limited Purpose Answer to

Complaint for Declaratory Judgment and a Motion to Dismiss or Stay.

5.

Plaintiff, Angela Charlson, (hereinafter "Angela") did not pursue this matter until the

Minnesota Court decided the Motion referenced by Defendant in the Motion to Dismiss or Stay.

In essence, Plaintiff granted the Defendant his requested stay.
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6.

Defendant did not pursue his Motion to Dismiss, and the Court's Order for this hearing,

agreed to by both counsel, established that the hearing was to detennine the validity of the Pre-

Marriage Agreement (hereinafter "Agreement").

7.

Angela testified that the parties had previously discussed having a Pre-Marriage

Agreement and both agreed it was necessary.

8.

The parties herein entered into the Agreement in the state of South Dakota, on the 22nd

day of January, 1993, in Belle Fourche, South Dakota. Plaintif's Exhibit 1.

9.

At that time the parties entered into the Agreement both owned property in the state of

South Dakota. Angela was living in Belle Fourche, South Dakota, and Donald was also living in

Belle Fourche, South Dakota. The Agreement was supplemented with a letter written b~

Attorney Michael McKnight, who represented Donald in issues relating to the Pre-Marriage

Agreement. Plaintif's Exhibit 2,

10.

Both parties testified as to the reasons for the Agreement. Both had been through

"messy" divorces. Angela had given up assets in her previous divorce; assets that she had

counted on for retirement. Both parties had children from their previous marriage which they

wished to independently provide for. Angela testified that there was also a concern regarding
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whether her assets would be considered for Donald's child support and alimony purposes.

Donald also testified that part of the reason for the Agreement was to protect Angela's assets and

businesses.

11.

An alienation of affection lawsuit was served on Angela during the process of Donald's

divorce. She hired Terry Quinn to be her attorney. Once Donald signed the settlement

agreement with his then wife, Teresa Charlson, her alienation of affection lawsuit against Angela

was dismissed, however, without prejudice. Plaintif's Exhibit 14. This was also a concern for

the parties.

12.

The parties' Pre-Marriage Agreement provides as follows:

GOVERNING LAW:
This Agreement is made and executed in the State of South Dakota, and shall be
governed by the laws of the State of South Dakota notwithstanding the fact that
the parties may, from time to time, reside in some other jurisdiction. Venue of all
proceedings to interpret this Agreement shall be held in Butte County, South
Dakota. (Emphasis added.)

13.
\

The parties signed the Pre-Marriage Agreement in South Dakota and
selected South Dakota as the forum and venue to determine its validity and
interpretati on.

14.

The parties herein are parties to a divorce action fied in Minnesota, In Re Marriage of

Donald M Charlson v. Angela K. Charlson, Court File No. 55-FA-13-l830, District Court

Family Division, Third Judicial Circuit, State of Minnesota, County of Olmstead. Angela did not

raise the Agreement in her fiing for her Minnesota divorce in her Verífied Answer. Counsel for
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Angela represented to this Court at trial that neither Minnesota law nor South Dakota law would

require such disclosure.

15.

Angela, with leave of the Minnesota Court amended her Counter-Petition and included

the existence of the Agreement. Plaintif's Exhibits 5, 6 and 7.

16.

Angela has not taken two inconsistent positions in front of two separate courts. In both

the Minnesota Court and in the South Dakota Court Angela has asserted the validity of the

subject Agreement.

17.

The Minnesota Court bifurcated the case and granted the parties a divorce on February

10,2014. The issues remaining before the Minnesota Court are spousal maintenance, division

of property and debts, and other financial matters involving the parties. Plaintif's Exhibit 11.

18.

The Minnesota Court made the following Findings in its Order of October 29,2013.

Plaintiff's Exhibit 9.
\

a. Each party was competent at the time of signing and had access to competent

counseL.

b. The Pre-Marriage Agreement was not a contract of adhesion.

19.

Upon Motion of Donald to modify the Order, the Minnesota Court sustained its former

position in its Order of April 21, 2014. Plaintif's Exhibit 10.
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20.

Donald testified that he had little recollection of any of the events surrounding the

preparation or signing of the Agreement, but alleged that he did not have the advice of competent

counsel prior to signing the Agreement.

21.

Donald waived his attorney/client privilege and allowed his attorney, Michael McKnight

to testify.

22.

Mr. McKnight testified that he wrote the letter, Plaintif's Exhibit 2, and that while he had

no independent recollection of the writing of the letter, he could verify that the letter was on his

letterhead and signed by him. He further testified that he would not have written the letter were

it not factually accurate.

23.

The letter, Plaintif's Exhibit 2, stated that Mr. McKnight had counseled Donald

regarding his rights and that Donald would be freely and voluntarily signing the Agreement, and

that, in fact, it was his idea

24.

Mr. McKnight had represented Donald in a divorce that was completed approximately

five months before the signing of the Agreement. He verified that Plaintif's Exhibit 13 was a

document he had prepared and sent to the Divorce Court on behalf of Donald which accurately

sets forth Donald's assets and debts at the time of his divorce. Shortly thereafter the parties were
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divorced. Plaintif's Exhibit 3.

25.

While he had no independent recollection, Mr. McKnight verified that the fax, Plaintif's

Exhibit 12, was properly directed to his then offce and contained a rough draft of a Pre-Marriage

Agreement from Richard Pluimer, attorney for Angela.

26.

The document sent with the fax stated that it was "for discussion purposes only," and

contained the financial disclosure statement of Angela (then known as Angela Smoot).

27.

Angela waived her attorney/client privilege and allowed her attorney, Richard Pluimer, to

testify.

28.

Mr. Pluimer, Angela's attorney, testified that he had placed a call to Mr. McKnight to see

\ ifhe was representing Donald, and then faxed Plaintif's Exhibit 12 to Mr. McKnight. He then

had a subsequent conversation with Mr. McKnight.

29.

Plaintif's Exhibit 4 is a biling statement from Mr. Pluimer's offce at the time he was

representing Angela. It sets forth services on January 21 and January 22, 1993, including a

telephone call with Mr. McKnight on January 21 st. A further telephone call tookplace on

January nod with Mr. McKnight after which the bil indicates that the final version of 
the Pre-

Marriage Agreement was drafted. The bilings for the disbursements for the time period of 
the

\
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bil indicate that there were photocopies made, a fax was sent, and that there were telephone

charges. Plaintif's Exhibit 4 corroborates the testimony of Mr. Pluimer and Mr. McKnight.

30.

Donald did not raise an objection with his attorney, with Mr. Pluimer, nor with Angela,

that he was not prepared to sign the Pre-Marriage Agreement on the date that it was signed.

While he knew other South Dakota attorneys, he did not seek their counseL.

31.

Donald offered no testimony that he was coerced into signing the Agreement. He

testified that the wedding would have gone forward even ifhe had not signed it.

32.

Angela testified that if Donald had expressed concern about signing the Agreement, the

wedding could have been postponed, or they could have discussed changing the Agreement.

33.

The Court finds no significance in the fact that the parties did not initial the pages or that

Mr. Pluimer asked them to come back to his offce and initial the pages afterwards. The Court\

finds no such legal requirement in the law.

34.

Mr. Pluimer testified that he would not have allowed either party to sign the Agreement if

he had any doubt whatsoever that the parties were freely and voluntarily entering into the

Agreement.

35.

Mr. McKnight testified that he would not have allowed his client to sign the document if
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he felt he was not voluntarily doing so.

36.

The Court finds that Mr. McKnight and Mr. Pluimer are credible witnesses.

37.

Angela testified, and it was uncontroverted, that the paries were both given a copy of the

Pre-Marriage Agreement to read prior to signing; that Mr. Pluimer left the room while the parties

reviewed the documents, and that Donald raised no questions regarding her financial disclosure

or his own.

38.

Donald did not testify as to how the Agreement was "unconscionable." Donald testified

that Angela did not force him to sign the Agreement.

39.

In Paragraph 1 of the Agreement, the parties agreed that they had a "full and complete

accounting of all assets and liabilities" and that the "listing of the assets and the value placed on

the assets constitutes a reasonable approximation of each parties' assets and liabilities, but

neither pary represents that the balance sheet is a precise compilation," and that the ~ariation in

"the value of the assets, at any time in the future, shall not affect the validity of the agreement".

Plaintif's Exhibit 2.

40.

Paragraph 11 of the Agreement, reads in pertinent part:

11. LEGAL REPRESENTATION:

Don acknowledges that this Agreement has been prepared by legal counsel for
Angie, the law firm of Carr & Pluimer, P.C. of Belle Fourche, South Dakota.
Angie's attorneys have not and do not purport to advise Don or to make any
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representations to him. Each party has had the benefit of separate representation
by legal counsel of their choice. Each part further represents they have read this
Agreement in its entirety, have fully examined the schedule of assets of 

the other,

have had an opportunity to have any matters explained to them by the other or by
their attorney. Each party fully understands the purposes, terms, provisions and
legal consequences of this Agreement. (Emphasis added.)

41.

Donald was (and continues to be) a Financial Planner at the time he signed the

Agreement and was Angela's Financial Planner. He had discussed her debts and assets in that

capacity. Angela testified that she and Donald had indeed discussed her debts and assets because

that was instrumental in determining how much she could invest safely and still have money to

pay her debts. Donald has not alleged that Angela's disclosure of debts and assets was deficient

II any way.

42.

Donald had just completed a divorce approximately five months prior to the signing of

the Agreement and was aware of his debts and assets. As shown by Plaintif's Exhibits 3 and 13,

Donald had a negative net worth, so his asserting he had a zero net worth on his attachment to

the Agreement was correct and accurate. Donald's testimony that he did not know his debts and
\

assets is not credible.

43.

Any Conclusion of Law deemed to properly constitute a Finding of Fact shall be

incorporated herein by reference.

Based on the foregoing Findings, the Court hereby enters the following:

Page -10-

APPELLEE'S APPENDIX 000027



CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.

The Court has gauged the credibility of the witnesses and weighed the significance of

their testimony. Kost v. Kost, 515 N.W.2d 209, 212 (S.D. 1994).

2.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over the parties herein and the Agreement. The

paries signed a Pre-Marriage Agreement with a valid forum selection provision, which gives this

Court personal jurisdiction. Additionally, the paries own, or have an interest in, real property

located in the state of South Dakota, as shown by the parties' affdavits and testimony.

3.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Declaratory Judgment actions. SDCL

Chapter 21-24. The Court has jurisdiction to determine the validity of a Pre-Marriage

Agreement. SDCL Chapter 25-2.

4.

SDCL 21-24-3 gives this Court authority in a declaratory judgment action to determine

any question of construction or validity arising under an ins\rument, in this case, the parties' Pre-

Marriage Agreement.

5.

SDCL 25-2-21 provides that when this court reviews a challenge to the validity of a

premarital agreement, certain factors must be considered. And furthermore, that the burden of

proof rests upon the party challenging the premarital agreement, in this case, Donald.

6.

SDCL 25-2-21 (2) has a two part provision relating to whether a premarital agreement is
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unconscionable. One seeking to avoid enforcement of a premarital agreement must first show

that it was unconscionable when executed, and second, that they:

(i) (Were) not provided a fair and reasonable disclosure of the property or

financial obligations of the other party;

(ii) Did not voluntarily and expressly waive, in writing, any right to disclosure

of the property or financial obligations of the other party beyond the
disclosure provided; and

(iii) Did not have, or reasonably could not have had, an adequate knowledge of

the property or financial obligations of the other party.

7.

In this case Donald knew why Angela desired the Pre-Marriage Agreement and agreed

with those reasons. He himself desired the Agreement. The Supreme Court has:

(E)ndorsed property agreements between spouses as a method of protecting the
inheritance rights of their children by previous marriages. . . . Moreover, we noted
that "courts have recognized that it is nature and proper for a parent to desire to
provide for their children of his or her first marriage." Estate ofSmid, 2008 S.D.
~21, 756 N.W.2d 1.

While this is not an Agreement between spouses, the right to be protected is the same.

8.

Based upon the facts, the Pre-M~rriage Agreement was not unconscionable when

executed. The reasons for the Agreement were valid.

9.

Donald voluntarily executed the Pre-Marriage Agreement. He was not under duress and

the shortness oftime did not affect his ability to consult with competent counseL. Angela did not

force him to sign the Agreement.

(O)ne who accepts the contract is conclusively presumed to know it contents and
to assent to them in, in the absence of fraud, misrepresentation or other wrongful
act by another contracting party. ~17. (Citations omitted).
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10.

Both parties had the advice of competent counsel and the Agreement was desired by both

parties for valid reasons.

11.

Donald had a fair and reasonable disclosure of the property and financial obligations of

Angela. He expressly waived in writing any right to a further disclosure and as her Financial

Planner, Donald had adequate knowledge of her property and financial obligations.

12.

The South Dakota Supreme Court in Sanford v. Sanford, 2005 S.D. 34, ~44, 694 N.W.2d

283, states:

It is not necessary, given the language in SDCL 25~2~2l, for a spouse to provide a
detailed and exact valuation of his or her net worth in a prenuptial agreement. It
is suffcient for a spouse to provide, within the best of his or her abilities, a list of
assets and liabilities with approximate valuations. The listing must be suffciently
precise to give the other spouse a reasonable approximation of the magnitude of

the other spouse's net worth.

\ 13.

Angela is not contesting the disclosure of Donald's property and debts, and his

disclosure, or failure to disclose is not an issue under the law. Even if it were an issue, his net

worth, which, as shown by Plaintifs Exhibits 3 and 13, was a minus figure, making his

disclosure accurate.

14.

The Court concludes that Angela did not waiver her rights to enforce the Agreement by

the nature of her pleadings in the Minnesota Court.
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15.

Donald cites Kellar v. Estate of Kellar, 172 Wash. App. 562, ~47, 291 P.3d 906 (Wash.

App. Div. 1,2012) and Bailey v. Duling, 2013 S.D. 15,827 N.W. 2d 351. Applying the criteria

set forth in those cases to the facts in this case clearly establish that estoppel has not occurred.

16.

The Court concludes that the burden of proving the invalidity of the Pre-Marriage

Agreement is Donald's and that he failed to meet his burden of proof under SDCL 25-2-21 (2)(i).

The Pre-Marriage Agreement between the parties is valid and enforceable.

17.

Any Finding of Fact deemed to properly constitute a Conclusion of Law shall be

incorporated herein by reference.

LET JUDGMENT BE ENTERED ACCORDINGLY.

Dated this 5th day of August, 2014.

~~
Hon. Michael W. Day
Circuit Court Judge\

ATTEST:

(SEAL)

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA
Fourth Judicial Circuit Court

i hltrlby cøt11fy that the foregoing Instrumont
is a true and correct ~opy of the orIginal Ø8 thø
same appears on file in my offIce on thllS di-te: ~ILED

AUG 0 5 201~

,,,,_.¡;¡ ',,';011, V..¡::¡:O ,¡UDlCIALSYSTEM
.. :;:. ;CL':r l';U:RK OF COURT
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OVERVIEW 

Don hereby incorporates the legal precedent, facts, testimony, and argument in 

support of his position as is set forth in the Appellant’s Brief.  Don utilizes the same 

references and abbreviations to the record, exhibits, and testimony that were originally 

utilized in the Appellant’s Brief.  Don will reply to each of the three issues identified in 

the Appellee Brief in the same order in which they were presented.  

REPLY 

The parties agree on the standard of review. Angela states on page seven of her 

Appellee Brief that the “Trial Court was charged with interpreting the contract of the 

parties as set forth in the terms of the PMA.”  This Court stated in Ziegler Furniture and 

Funeral Home, Inc. v. Cicmanec,  2006 SD 6 ¶ 14, 709 N.W.2d 350, 354: 

Contract interpretation is a question of law reviewable de novo. 
Schulte v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co., 2005 SD 75, ¶ 5, 699 
N.W.2d 437, 438 (citation omitted). Because we can review the 
contract as easily as the trial court, there is no presumption in favor 
of the trial court's determination. Cowan v. Mervin Mewes, Inc., 
1996 SD 40, ¶ 6, 546 N.W.2d 104, 107 (quoting Commercial Trust 
& Sav. Bank v. Christensen, 535 N.W.2d 853, 856 (S.D.1995)). 
 

Angela further acknowledges on page sixteen of her Appellee Brief that “Conclusions of 

Law are reviewed de novo.”   

1. Any inference that Don waived the issue of interpretation or that Don did not 
timely move to strike Angela’s expert report should be rejected. 
 
 As Angela notes, the parties stipulated to the foundation of all expert reports in 

this case.  Angela infers strongly, however, that such stipulation as to foundation 

somehow binds Don to the opinions expressed within the reports.  No case precedent is 

cited for that proposition. Don is not more bound to Angela’s experts than she is to his.  

By way of example, Angela admits on page fourteen of the Appellee Brief that Don’s 
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expert “Baker Tilly assumed the joint Edward Jones #7183 account was used to acquire 

marital property and pay ordinary living expenses.”  Under Angela’s inference or 

argument this would equate to Angela stipulating to such Baker Tilly conclusion or 

opinion when Angela stipulated to the foundation of the Baker Tilly report.  Neither party 

did any such thing in this case. Stipulating to the foundation of an expert report does not 

equate to stipulating to the opinions found within the report.  Any inference or argument 

of Angela to the contrary should be rejected. 

 A preliminary foundation as to stipulation also does not bind a party when the 

entire basis for the stipulation is later revealed to be absent. The motion to strike the 

report of Angela’s expert was timely made because it was presented promptly following 

the admissions of Angela on the stand.  Those admissions eliminated the foundation of 

her own expert’s opinions.  Angela testified that her actions, intention, and understanding 

regarding the PMA did not include the “marital loan” concept engineered by her 

Minnesota litigation experts:  

…. But in my heart of hearts, and at absolutely – I can – like I’m 

testifying right now, I did not make a marital loan.  And they1did in 
their way of doing things.  I had to agree. I had to say “We have to 
let that be a marital loan.” But I know and Donny knows that I 
didn’t borrow any money from our joint account for my 7191 

account.  I kept that separate. 
 
Q: So when you transferred money from your 7183 [joint marital 
bank account] to 7191 and your expert treated it as a loan, it’s your 

testimony it was not meant to be a loan? 
 
A: It was not meant to be a loan. 
 
Ms. Lawrence: Your Honor, I would move to exclude the Value 
Tracing Report, as it clearly does not follow what Ms. Charlson 

                                                 
1 “They” are Angela’s retained Minnesota experts, as opposed to the parties who signed 
the PMA in this case.   
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believed they were doing during the marriage and what her 
testimony is today, what these transfers were meant to be. It’s the 

fictitious methodology report that doesn’t match their life or her 

intention or her interpretation of the pre-marriage agreement.  
 
The Court: Ms. Rohr? 
 
Ms. Rohr: Thank you, your Honor.  Ms. Charlson testified 
yesterday she is not a financial expert, and she didn’t know how 

financial tracing going back 25 years works. She is able to testify 
to what she intended.  This is what the tracing experts have come 
up with and she’s not qualified to answer that question.  Thank 
you. 
 
The Court: Thank you.  Your motion is denied. (CT Pg. 375, lines 
11-25; Pg. 376; 1-12) (emphasis added; bracketed material added). 
See also CT Pg. 442; lines 18-21, Pg. 449; lines 9-13; Pg. 461; 
lines 23-25; Pg. 462; lines 24-25). 
 

As the transcript reflects, the motion to strike was properly and timely made after this 

testimony was presented. “[T]he trial judge… has the ‘task of ensuring that an expert’s 

testimony rests on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the task at hand.’” State v. 

Hofer, 512 NW2d 482, 484. “[T]he value of the opinion of an expert witness is no better 

than the facts upon which it is based.  It cannot rise above its foundation and proves 

nothing if its factual basis is not true.” Meligan v. Dept. of Revenue and Regulation, 2006 

SD 26, 712 NW2d 12, 18.  In this case, the opinions of Angela’s experts, which Angela’s 

Appellee Brief admits at page twenty were “not based on Angela’s interpretation of the 

PMA,” must be rejected as they lack any factual basis.  

SDCL 19-19-702 (formerly 19-15-2) provides that an expert may testify to an 

opinion if certain criteria is found to exist: 

  (b) The testimony is based on sufficient facts or data; 
  (c) The testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods; 
  d) The expert has reliably applied the principles and methods to the facts of  

  the case. 
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Obviously, neither Angela’s expert report nor the expert’s testimony identified that the 

entire foundation upon which such opinions were based was inconsistent with Angela’s 

intent, actions, and understanding. Angela’s testimony demonstrated that her retained 

experts’ opinions were not based on sufficient facts or data (b), were not the product of 

reliable methods (c), and Angela’s experts had not applied the methodologies to the facts 

of this case or even the testimony of their client (c).  The motion to strike was then timely 

made.2  The fact that Angela’s Appellee Brief at page twenty admits that her experts’ 

opinions were “not based upon Angela’s interpretation of the PMA” further supports this 

conclusion. The Trial Court’s refusal to strike the experts’ opinions that lacked this 

requisite foundation and was inconsistent with the interpretation of the party who signed 

the contract was error and should be reversed by this Court.  

2. The parties’ joint marital bank account was a joint marital bank account and had 

only two clear purposes per the terms of the PMA. 

 Appellee argues to this Court that the Trial Court did not error in 

interpreting the PMA to permit tracing of separate funds deposited into the joint 

marital bank account.  Appellee’s argument hinges on the following position in 

which she strenuously urges: 

There is no evidence of testimony that either party intended on 
acquiring marital property when entering in the PMA, nor that they 
were required to acquire marital property. The PMA is void of any 
language regarding such intent” (Appellee Brief Pg. 24). 

Appellee’s argument that the PMA is “void” of any language regarding “acquiring 

marital property” ignores the PMA language.  In the “purpose and intent” paragraph, and 

specifically section (3) of that paragraph, it states that one of the purposes of the PMA is 

                                                 
2 The failure of Angela’s attorney to raise any allegation of untimeliness at the time the 

motion to strike was made was the only position arguably waived in this case.  
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“to define the rights of each party to the property acquired during the course of the 

marriage….”  Paragraph four and seven of the PMA then go about defining such rights to 

property acquired during the marriage under paragraph (3) cited:  

4. Marital Property.  
Except as specifically provided above, property acquired by the 
parties from and after the date of the marriage, and continuing 
through the course of the marriage, shall remain marital property.  
No waiver, release or relinquishment of any right, title, claim or 
interest in and to the separate property of the other shall be 
construed as a relinquishment of any right or interest in marital 
property.  Property acquired from and after the date of the 
marriage, and continuing through the course of the marriage, shall 
remain marital property regardless of designation of title or 
ownership of such assets. (App. 3) (emphasis added). 
 

Contrary to Angela’s bold assertion, paragraph four therefore addresses in plain and 

ordinary language the intent of the parties to acquire marital property and defines marital 

property as “property acquired by the parties from and after the date of marriage.” In 

sum, the PMA clearly contemplates that two parties, who are to be married the following 

day, intended on acquiring marital property. 

Paragraph seven of the PMA further addresses the mechanism in which the parties 

utilize to acquire marital property from and after the date of marriage.  That paragraph 

provides a “joint marital bank account” that, as the title of the account itself states, is to 

be utilized to acquire “any” marital property from and after the date of marriage: 

The parties agree to create, upon marriage, a jointly owned bank 
account, and each agrees to deposit into such account, earnings or 
separate property, at an amount necessary to pay ordinary and 
necessary living expenses of the parties, and any acquisition of 
marital property.”  The payment of other ordinary living expenses, 

such as taxes, insurance, utilities and miscellaneous repairs shall be 
paid from the joint marital bank account (App. 3) (emphasis 
added).  
  

Angela’s argument, therefore, that the PMA is “void” of language of the parties’ intent to 
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acquire marital property during the marriage, has no basis.  The PMA both defines 

marital property and provides a clear and simple mechanism for its acquisition.  

 The PMA addresses the fact that separate property deposited into the joint marital 

bank account is to be used for the two specific and stated purposes identified.  The use of 

terms such as “joint marital bank account” and “any acquisition of marital property” 

clearly provides notice to the parties of the implications of the utilization of this joint 

marital bank account.  This is also why no party or even Angela’s experts contemplated 

or even attempted to trace separate funds through the joint marital bank account that were 

utilized for the other stated purpose of the joint marital bank account; namely the 

payment of ordinary living expenses from and after the date of marriage. That fact cannot 

be lost on anyone, or the implication that Angela’s experts not only ignored their client’s 

own interpretation but also had to create a further fiction to distinguish between separate 

funds going into the joint marital bank account for ordinary living expenses and those 

deposited to acquire marital property from and after the date of marriage.  

 Although commonly used when discussing insurance contracts, this Court’s 

precedent that Courts are to construe a contract “according to its plain and ordinary 

meaning” is equally applicable in this case. See e.g. Dakota Fire Ins. Co. v. J & J 

McNeil, LLC, 2014 SD 37, ¶ 7, 849 NW2d 648, 650.  The plain and ordinary meaning of 

a “joint marital bank account” is that it is a joint marital bank account.  The reference to 

“any acquisition of marital property” means “any” and it does not mean some, part, or a 

contrived percentage to be determined once parties are in litigation. Angela’s attorney 

could have defined the joint marital bank account as something other than a joint marital 

bank account but did not do so.  The plain and ordinary meaning of these terms and 
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phrases dictates that “any” property acquired from and after the date of marriage (the 

definition of marital property in paragraph four) from the joint marital bank account 

identified in paragraph seven is marital property. 

 Angela argues that the commingling provision found in paragraph five of the 

PMA defeats the clear implication of paragraph four and seven of the PMA. As set forth 

at length in Appellant’s Brief, if Angela’s intent was to preserve assets held “as of the 

date of this Agreement” she had separate accounts available to her to do just that 

throughout the marriage.3  An example from during the marriage is straightforward and 

illustrates how paragraph four, five, and seven can (and were) reconciled. The parties 

utilized the joint marital bank account during the marriage to fund the start-up of a 

business managed by Don’s daughter (Sioux Falls Massage Envy) (CT Pg. 762; lines 17-

25).  The other investors who infused payments into the business were Don’s three long 

term friends Todd Robertson, Lonny Hickey, and Darrin Groteboer (CT Pg. 839; lines 2-

4). Had Angela wanted to establish a separate interest in that new entity acquired long 

after the date of marriage she could have utilized one of her separate accounts or assets 

that existed “as of the date of the Agreement” to fund a portion of the start-up cost.  

Angela had accounts in place to be able to do this but did not do so. The parties chose to 

utilize the joint marital bank account to fund the start-up of Sioux Falls Massage Envy 

(and the other businesses identified by Don at CT Pg. 762; lines 17-25) after the date of 
                                                 

3 On page twenty eight of Appellee’s Brief a laundry list of excuses for why Angela did 

not utilize her separate accounts is provided this Court.  Don would respond by stating 
that Angela testified she had “nine different checkbooks” available to her during the 

marriage (CT Pg. 256; lines 3-4), she testified she could easily trace from her 7191 
separate account to her other separate accounts (CT Pg. 256; line 20-24), that “I had 

expenses I paid through my separate Northwest Account” again confirming separate 

accounts could be utilized (CT Pg. 345; lines 1-2), and that all Angela had to do to make 
transfer to her separate accounts was “make a call” (CT Pg. 346; Lines 7-8).   
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their marriage. 

 Don’s interpretation of the PMA yields a result wherein the interest of the married 

couple in Sioux Falls Massage Envy (valued $1,220,000.00) is a marital asset to be 

divided equitably by the Minnesota divorce court.  The interpretation of Angela’s experts, 

on the other hand, claiming to trace through the marital joint bank account identified in 

paragraph seven of the PMA, and applying the “marital loan” fiction, yields a conclusion 

wherein “1,023,967.00 is a separate property interest [of Angela] and the marital property 

interest is $196,033.” (COL No. 42; bracketed material added for clarification).  The 

expert’s contrived separate interest was done in stark contrast to the interpretation and 

testimony of Angela as well as the plain and ordinary language of the PMA as set forth 

above. Again, Angela’s Appellee Brief at page twenty not only admits her experts’ 

opinions are “not based on Angela’s interpretation of the PMA” but Angela made it clear 

in her testimony that her experts could not even explain it to her so she (the party who 

signed the contract) could understand it: 

A: I don’t – this is something the experts have to tell you what 
happened.  I am not capable of doing this.  This is – you’re going 

to have to see how they did it with their formulas and that kind of 
stuff.  They tried to explain it to me and I …. (CT Pg. 448; lines 

16-25, Pg. 449; line 1-4). 
 

COL No. 42, and any Conclusion of Law based on Angela’s experts’ flawed opinion that 

allows for a separate property interest in marital property acquired through the joint 

marital bank account from and after the date of marriage, lacks both foundation and is 

contrary to the language in the PMA. 

 Had Angela expressed an intent during the marriage to separately fund start-up 

costs in a new business which would be operated by Don’s daughter and was also funded 
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by Don’s long-time friends such as Sioux Falls Massage Envy, three things would have 

occurred. First, Don would have had notice of such fact.  Second, the married couple who 

had substantial marital funds available in the joint marital bank account4 could have 

discussed why Angela desired to have a separate interest in a new business acquired 

during the marriage (the definition of marital property as provided in paragraph four of 

the PMA). Third, Angela’s use of a separate account could be traced and under paragraph 

five the comingling of separate funds would not have extinguished the separate interest 

that was extinguished when separate funds were deposited in the joint marital bank, 

which per paragraph seven, was intended to acquire any marital property from and after 

the date of marriage.   

 Don’s interpretation of paragraph four, five, and seven as set forth above 

reconciles and gives contextual meaning and application to all of the provisions and 

stated purposes of the PMA.  The purpose of the PMA was to protect separate property 

that existed “as of the date of this Agreement” (paragraph two) as well as to “define the 

rights of the parties to the property acquired during the marriage (purpose and intent 

paragraph)(emphasis added).  Reviewing Appellee’s Brief very carefully, it is clear that 

Appellee acknowledges Don’s interpretation can be reconciled with all provisions of the 

PMA:  

“Baker Tilly assumed the joint Edward Jones #7183 account was 

used to acquire marital property and pay ordinary living expenses.” 

(Appellee Brief Pg. 14); 
 

                                                 
4For example, Angela testified there was $220,000.00 in the joint marital bank account in 
December of 2008 (CT: Pg. 448; lines 7-11).  Angela was asked how she could justify 
claiming a separate property interest in assets acquired from such joint marital bank 
account when it had that substantial balance and her testimony was “That is a question 

for the experts. I have no clue.” (CT Pg. 44; lines 16-20). 
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“Don’s expert acknowledged that Angela has a separate property 

interest in the following assets: …… b. Any distributions from STI 

Inc. other than those going in the 7183 Edward Jones account 
(Appellee Brief Pg. 15) (emphasis added). 
 

Don’s position, therefore, and the testimony of his expert based on the  review of 

Angela’s experts as to separate accounts (as opposed to the joint marital bank account), 

reconciled all three paragraphs of the PMA and is consistent with both of the stated 

purposes – not just that purpose that would benefit Angela.  

 “Conventional principles of contract interpretation require agreements to be 

construed in their entirety giving contextual meaning to each term.” Spiska Engineering 

Inc. v. SPM Thermo-Shield, Inc., 2007 SD 31, ¶ 21, 730 NW2d 638, 646.  “[A]n 

interpretation which gives a reasonable and effective meaning to all the terms is preferred 

to an interpretation which leave a part unreasonable or of no effect.” Nelson v. 

Schellpfeffer, 2003 SD 7, ¶ 14, 656 NW2d 740, 744.  Don’s interpretation allows for both 

the protection of separate property interests that existed “as of the date of this 

Agreement,” and also gives meaning to the specific, direct, and unambiguous provisions 

of the PMA that dictate that “any” property acquired from and after the date of marriage 

by the use of the “joint marital bank account” is (not surprisingly) joint marital property.  

The term “any” paints with a broad brush.  Reconciliation of all terms must be done and 

when it is done in this case Don’s interpretation should be adopted by this Court.  

3. Angela’s words, actions, and understanding are in stark contrast to the fiction of 

marital loans, and even if such were not the case, there is no written consent for such 
alleged loans. 
 
 Angela breaks out the existence of marital loans (Issue 3) and the mutual consent 

issue (Issue 4) separately in her Appellee Brief. Don will address these issues together 

because they are so interwoven they cannot be separated.  South Dakota law requires 
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mutual consent to terms of a contract and whether consent existed is determined by the 

words and actions of the parties who signed the contract: 

Mutual consent to a contract does not exist “unless the parties all 

agree upon the same things in the same sense.” See SDCL 53–3–3; 
Braunger, 405 N.W.2d at 646. Its existence is determined by 
considering the parties' words and actions. See 17A Am.Jur.2d 
Contracts § 29 (1991). Coffee Cup Fuel Stops & Convenience 
Stores, Inc. v. Donnelly, 1999 S.D. 46, ¶ 22, 592 N.W.2d 924, 927 
 

Angela’s word (testimony) was that no loans existed, she did not understand her experts’ 

creation of marital loans, and even if such amounts could be broken out, Angela testified 

under oath clearly “It was not meant to be a loan.” (CT Pg. 375; lines 11-21).  It is 

difficult to contemplate how Angela’s words and actions could be any clearer. 

 Based on Angela’s admissions and the implications of the same, Angela’s 

attorneys argue on page thirty five of the Appellee Brief that “Don’s argument that 

mutual consent was needed to create a marital loan is contrary to the terms of the PMA.” 

It is further argued on page thirty six “no consent was needed” to create marital loans. 

The proposition that the parties who sign contracts need not mutually consent or 

understand contract terms to be bound to the same is a novel one and no South Dakota 

law is cited in the Appellee Brief to support it.     

 Angela argues that Don confuses “the creation of the marital loan with the 

payment of the loan” and that “the language regarding written agreement is necessary 

only if the parties did not want it to be a marital loan.”  As to the first allegation, Don 

confuses nothing because neither parties understanding, actions, or words ever 

established they intended or understood they were allegedly creating marital loans.  

Second, and had the parties ever created “marital loans,” those loans were “indebtedness” 

that by definition and as provided for in paragraph 8 (c) of the PMA required written 
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consent. That paragraph provides “neither party shall bind, or attempt to bind, the other 

party to any indebtedness except on written consent.” Written consent was never obtained 

because the parties never discussed this issue because neither of them understood, nor 

believed, any such loans existed.  

 The Trial Court’s FOF No. 152 stated that Angela “acknowledged they did not 

keep track of marital loans” and FOF No. 153 stated that Plaintiff was “unaware” of 

marital loans. Angela further admits at page twenty of her Appellee Brief that her 

expert’s opinions and methodologies were “not based on Angela’s interpretation of the 

PMA.” The long standing legal precedent of this Court states: “[T]he construction given 

by the parties themselves to the contract as shown by their acts, if reasonable, will be 

accorded great weight and usually will be adopted by the court.” Huffman v. Shevlin, 72 

NW2d 852, 855 (SD 1955).  Angela signed the contract, not her experts.5  The admission 

that Angela’s retained litigation experts’ opinions were “not based on Angela’s 

interpretation of the PMA” is fatal to the Trial Court’s interpretation of the PMA in this 

case. See Appellee Brief, Pg. 20.   

 Mutual consent cannot exist when, as Angela argues at footnote nine of her 

Appellee Brief, “What Angela thought she was doing is not the same as what the contract 

actually does.”  Mutual consent requires that what a party thought they were doing be 

precisely what the contract does.  Mutual consent does not exist “unless the parties all 

agree upon the same things in the same sense” and in making the determination of 

                                                 
5Appellee alleges in footnote 3, without cite to the record or any authority, that some of 
the Baker Tilly review of Angela’s experts’ report involved the marital loan concept. 
Failure to cite to the record, or provide any authority for the same, waives any such 
allegation. SDCL 15–26A–60 (5), (6); State v. Pellegrino, 1998 SD 39, ¶ 22, 577 N.W.2d 
590, 599. 
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whether that occurred “the existence is determined by considering the parties words and 

actions.” Coffee Cup Fuel Stops & Convenience Stores, Inc. v. Donnelly, 1999 S.D. 46, ¶ 

22, 592 N.W.2d 924, 927.  As noted above, this Court further stated in Malcolm, 365 

NW2d 863, 865 that “another test to be applied in determining the meaning of a contract 

is the construction actually placed on the contract as evidenced by their subsequent 

behavior” and that “the construction given by the parties themselves will be accorded 

great weight and will be adopted by the Court” (emphasis added). Allowing a retained 

Minnesota litigation expert to create loans contrary to the words, actions, understanding 

and construction actually placed on the PMA by the parties who signed the PMA is a 

position not supported by South Dakota law.  In fact, it is directly contrary to it. If such 

interpretation is affirmed by this Court, there exists a lack of mutual consent of the parties 

who actually signed the PMA that is necessary to form a binding contract. 

CONCLUSION 

 Contract interpretation is a question of law reviewable de novo. The PMA in this 

case provides for the protection of assets held “as of the date of this Agreement” as well 

“to define the rights of each party to the property acquired during the course of the 

marriage….”  Angela’s argument that PMA is void of language expressing intent to 

acquire marital property during a marriage is baseless.  Paragraph four defines marital 

property as any property acquired from and after the date of marriage and paragraph 

seven provides the mechanism, namely a “joint marital bank account” to acquire any such 

marital property.  

 Don’s interpretation of paragraph four, five, and seven of the PMA not only gives 

contextual meaning to all of the terms but also allows all terms to be reconciled.  It also 
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gives effect to the plain and ordinary meaning of the words used in the PMA. Angela had 

numerous separate accounts she could have utilized to maintain a separate interest in 

property from and after the date of marriage.  As noted, Angela’s decision to do that 

would have raised questions or issues never discussed during the marriage because the 

parties utilized the joint marital bank account to acquire “any” marital property from and 

after the date of marriage. Paragraph seven of the PMA should not be revised by this 

Court to reference the acquisition of “some,” “part,” or a contrived portion of marital 

property acquired after the date of marriage from the joint marital bank account.  The fact 

that no party attempted to distinguish a separate interest in funds deposited into the joint 

marital bank account to fund marital expenses (the other stated purpose of the joint 

marital bank account of the married parties) from and after the date of marriage drives 

this point home.  The word “any” has a broad, plain, and ordinary meaning and further 

defeats any such interpretation as advanced by Angela’s experts.  

 Mutual consent is needed to form a contract in South Dakota.  This Court should 

look at the admitted and undisputed testimony of Angela to determine whether mutual 

consent to the loan concept created by her Minnesota litigation experts existed.  This 

Court should conclude mutual consent did not exist.  That conclusion if further supported 

by the lack of written consent to alleged indebtedness “payable on demand.”  It is 

impossible to pay a loan or indebtedness “on demand” if neither party believes it existed 

and there is no written document (consent) identifying its existence. Written consent 

would have required a conversation of the parties, which of course never occurred, 

because only Angela’s experts testified that such loans or “separate” interest in the joint 

marital bank account ever existed.  
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 Don asks this Court to reverse the Trial Court’s interpretation of the PMA.  

Adopting Don’s interpretation as provided for herein as well as the Appellant’s Brief 

would allow Angela to preserve any separate interest in assets held “as of the date” of the 

PMA, identify marital assets acquired from and after the date of marriage through the 

utilization the joint marital bank account identified in paragraph seven, and subsequently 

allow the Minnesota Divorce Court to divide those marital assets equitably.  

 Don reiterates his request for oral argument.  
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